# Demand in the Context of Trafficking in Human Beings in the Domestic Work Sector in Italy

# Letizia Palumbo

June 2016

DemandAT Country Study No.5

#### **Summary**

While both the topics of domestic work (DW) and trafficking human beings (THB) have received increased attention in scholarship, there is very limited research on the nexus of these two issues in Italy, i.e. on cases of THB in the DW sector. This paper investigates the forms of severe exploitation and THB in DW in Italy and examines the factors affecting the demand-side in this sector. Moreover, it analyses the gaps in current legal and political responses.

The paper highlights that domestic workers frequently experience several forms of exploitation and maltreatment, which go from the violation of the fundamental protection provided by the contract to severe abuse and trafficking. The hidden nature of DW renders the identification of cases of THB extremely difficult. The paper reveals that while economic motivations are the main factor influencing the demand for cheap and exploitable workers in DW, other aspects, such as political, legal, social and cultural factors, also play a crucial role in affecting the demand-side. Moreover, this study points out that Italian legal and political responses to THB and severe exploitation have proven inadequate in preventing these phenomena and in protecting the rights of the victims. By highlighting the need to adopt a comprehensive approach to THB, the paper proposes a set of recommendations in regard to political and legal responses, also addressing the demand-side.



This project has received funding from the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme for Research, Technological Development and Demonstration under Grant Agreement No. 612869

#### About the project

Trafficking in human beings covers various forms of coercion and exploitation of women, men and children. Responses to trafficking have traditionally focused on combating the criminal networks involved in it or protecting the human rights of victims. However, European countries are increasingly exploring ways in which to influence the demand for services or products involving the use of trafficked persons or for the trafficked persons themselves. **DemandAT** aims to understand the role of demand in the trafficking of human beings and to assess the impact and potential of demand-side measures to reduce trafficking, drawing on insights on regulating demand from related areas.

**DemandAT** takes a comprehensive approach to investigating demand and demand-side policies in the context of trafficking. The research includes a strong theoretical and conceptual component through an examination of the concept of demand in trafficking from a historical and economic perspective. Regulatory approaches are studied in policy areas that address demand in illicit markets, in order to develop a better understanding of the impact that the different regulatory approaches can have on demand. Demand-side arguments in different fields of trafficking as well as demand-side policies of selected countries are examined, in order to provide a better understanding of the available policy options and impacts. Finally, the research also involves in-depth case studies both of the particular fields in which trafficking occurs (domestic work, prostitution, the globalised production of goods) and of particular policy approaches (law enforcement and campaigns). The overall goal is to develop a better understanding of demand and demand-factors in the context of designing measures and policies addressing all forms of trafficking in human beings.

The research is structured in three phases:

- Phase 1: Analysis of the theoretical and empirical literature on demand in the context of trafficking and on regulating demand in different disciplines, fields and countries. From January 2014–June 2015.
- Phase 2: Three in-depth empirical case studies of different fields of trafficking –
  domestic work, prostitution, imported goods and two studies on different policy
  approaches: law enforcement actors and campaigns. From September 2014–
  December 2016.
- Phase 3: Integrating project insights into a coherent framework with a focus on dissemination. From January 2017—June 2017.

#### **Project Facts**

**Coordinator**: International Centre for Migration Policy Development (ICMPD)

**Partners**: University of Bremen (UBr); University of Edinburgh (UEDIN), International La Strada Association (LSI), University of Lund (ULu), University of Durham (UDUR), European University Institute (EUI); Geneva Centre for the Democratic Control of Armed Forces (DCAF); La Strada Czech Republic (LS Cz)

Duration: 1 January 2014 to 30 June 2017 (42 months)

**Funding**: 7<sup>th</sup> Framework Programme, European Commission (DG Research), total volume 3.2 million. EC contribution: 2.5 million.

Website: www.demandat.eu

### Country case studies - Introductory note

This country report is part of the DemandAT project's case study on trafficking in human beings (THB) in the domestic work sector. The study was conducted in seven European countries (Belgium, France, Greece, Cyprus, Italy, Netherlands, and UK) and this paper is part of a series of seven country reports.

The key objectives of the country research were to i) investigate types of situations in domestic work that may involve extreme forms of exploitation and trafficking, ii) examine the motivations and factors driving and shaping the demand as well as iii) examine the gaps in legislations and policies. The scope of the country reports is comprehensive, and aimed at gaining a better understanding of the phenomenon in the country, and do not focus only on the demand-side aspects.

The reports are based on desk research of available literature as well as case law review and interviews with key stakeholders. Secondary sources, such as reports by international organisations and NGOs, and academic articles, were consulted, as well as primary sources in the form of legal instruments and policy documents.

The working paper 'Trafficking in domestic work: Looking at the demand-side' (Ricard-Guay 2016) provided a common research framework within which to conduct the seven in-country case studies.

## **Table of Contents**

INTRODUCTION	1
1 NATIONAL CONTEXT: TRAFFICKING IN HUMAN BEINGS (THB) IN THE DOMESTIC WORK SECTOR	
1.1 GOVERNMENT APPROACH AND RESPONSES TO THB IN DOMESTIC WORK	3
1.1.1 Regulations of domestic work	
1.1.2 Migration policies and domestic work	
1.1.3 Anti-trafficking policies and initiatives	
1.1.4 Policies and measures addressing demand-side of THB in DW	
1.1.5 Key debates	
1.2 THB IN DOMESTIC WORK: GENERAL TRENDS	
1.2.1 Empirical data	
1.2.2 Main characteristics and features of THB in domestic work	10
2 CASE LAW REVIEW	10
2.1 KEY NATIONAL CASE LAW	11
2.2 Key challenges in implementing legal dispositions and in legal proceedings	14
2.3 Other remedies for persons who have been trafficked or exploited in domestic work	16
3 DISCUSSION OF RESULTS	17
3.1 THB IN DOMESTIC WORK: OBSERVATIONS ON TYPES OF SITUATIONS AND CONDITIONS	18
3.2 Key motivation factors and demand-side dimension	21
3.3 KEY GAPS IN LEGISLATIONS AND POLICIES (INCLUDE DEMAND-SIDE DIMENSION)	23
4 CONCLUDING REMARKS AND KEY MESSAGES FOR NATIONAL POLICY MAKERS	25
REFERENCES	29
ANNEXE	34
ABOUT THE AUTHOR	35

# **Legal Notice:**

The views expressed in this publication are the sole responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the European Commission.

#### Introduction

In Italy, the employment of migrants in the domestic work (DW) sector has shown a substantial increase over recent years. According to a recent study by the OECD, Italy is the OECD country with the highest concentration of migrant workforce - especially female workforce - in the personal services sector, in particular in domestic care (OECD 2014: 20). Accurate data on DW are difficult to obtain due to the fact that this sector is characterised by high levels of irregularity (CENSIS 2012; ISTAT 2011; IREF 2014; IDOS 2014; Soleterre & Irs 2015).

The increasing demand for domestic workers in Italy has been driven by a combination of diverse factors. Firstly, the increase in the ageing of the population has led to higher demand for assistance and care for elderly people. Secondly, the growth in the participation of women in the labour market has undermined the informal care system that attributes the burden of care to women and this has caused a rise in households resorting to domestic workers, especially female migrant workers. Thirdly, the Italian welfare system is based on a 'familialist' model, which lacks efficient public services and assigns families the main role in providing care to their members who need assistance (Saraceno 2007; Scrinzi 2008). All this has, thus, resulted in what Ambrosini calls 'invisible welfare', where migrant domestic workers cover the inefficiencies of the welfare system (Ambrosini 2013).

Italian migration policies have also significantly supported the employment of migrants in DW, by adopting mechanisms which have facilitated their entry into this sector. Indeed, both the admission system based on annual quotas and the regularisation procedures for irregular migrants have provided migrant domestic workers with preferential treatment (Sarti 2010; Ambrosini 2013; Castagnone et. al. 2013; Triandafyllidou & Marchetti 2015).

At the same time, given the labour market segmentation on the basis of gender and nationality, often women who have migrated to Italy through channels which are not connected to DW have nonetheless found this to be the only work option available (Fullin and Vercelloni 2009; Vianello 2009; Castagnone *et al* 2013). This also occurs in the case of EU citizen migrants, who today constitute a significant component of the labour force in domestic work.

Although over recent years there has been progress in the recognition of the rights of domestic workers, they still receive different treatment in comparison to other workers and are typically viewed as low-status workers (Scrinzi 2008; Sarti 2010; Pasquinelli & Rusmini 2013). Moreover, they frequently face exploitative working conditions, which may range from the violation of the contract provisions and/or of mandatory rules on working conditions to severe abuse and trafficking in human beings (THB) (OSCE 2010; FRA 2011, 2015; ILO 2012, 2013).

While both the topics of DW and THB have received increased attention in scholarship, there is very limited research on the intertwinement of these two issues in Italy. Furthermore, even though over recent years more attention has been paid to the question of THB for labour exploitation, the DW sector has been overlooked by debate, interventions and policies on THB (GRETA 2014). As a result, severe labour exploitation and THB in DW remain hidden, invisible phenomena.

By aiming to cover this gap in knowledge and information and in order to contribute to the development of effective anti-trafficking measures, this paper examines the forms of severe exploitation and THB in DW in Italy, paying special attention to the demand-side aspects. Moreover, it analyses the inadequacies in current legal and political responses.

#### Objectives of the paper

This study is part of a broader project, DemandAT, which is aimed at addressing and reducing demand in the context of THB through anti-trafficking efforts and policies. Based on case law review and interviews with key stakeholders, this paper has three main objectives:

- 1. Investigate the types of situations in DW that may involve extreme forms of exploitation and trafficking;
- 2. Examine the factors driving the demand for cheap and exploitable workers in DW and the gaps in legislation and policies;
- 3. Propose a set of measures for national and international policy makers with the view of stepping up the action to combat trafficking and other severe forms of exploitation.

This study refers to the definition of DW provided by the ILO Domestic Convention 2011 (No. 198) stating that DW is 'work performed in or for a household or households', which includes diverse tasks such as cleaning the house, cooking, taking care of children, or elderly or sick members of a family, gardening etc. However, it should be outlined that this paper mainly focuses on elderly care as the stakeholders interviewed for this research predominantly concentrated upon this issue. This is because elderly care entails cohabitation, which tends to exacerbate dependency and power relationships fostering forms of abuse and severe exploitation.

A study on THB in DW in Italy is timely for several reasons. First, the issue of serious exploitation in DW has received increased attention on the international and European levels¹ and has been addressed by diverse research reports (OSCE 2010; OSCE 2014; FRA 2011; FRA 2015). Moreover, in January 2013 Italy ratified ILO Convention No. 189 concerning decent work for domestic workers². Furthermore, both GRETA (2014) and the OSCE (2014) in their reports on Italian anti-trafficking interventions and policies have stressed that domestic servitude is an area where further research is needed. Lastly, EU Directive 2011/36 on 'Preventing and combating trafficking in human beings and protecting its victims', which was transposed in Italy in March 2014, has driven attention to the issue of the position of vulnerability of victims and the irrelevance of consent, defining the position of vulnerability 'a situation in which the person concerned has no real or acceptable alternative but to submit to the abuse involved' (Art. 2(2)). Today, most cases of labour exploitation and THB in labour sectors such as DW rely on the abuse of the situation of vulnerability of the victim.

#### Methodology

This research is based on literature review, case law review and interviews with stakeholders. In terms of literature review, given the scarcity of research on the intersection between DW and THB, in particular in Italy, this paper relies on the analysis of research reports, scholarly literature on DW and on THB for labour exploitation, with special attention on the Italian context. Furthermore, it draws on the examination of policy texts and legal documents.

With regard to case law review, it is worth highlighting that in Italy there have to date been no convictions for THB or slavery in the DW sector and there have been very few cases brought to the court which involved THB and serious exploitation in DW. This study focuses on three relevant cases: the *M. and Others v. Italy and Bulgaria* ruling of the European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR 2012, No. 40020/03); a ruling of the Court of Appeal of Assizes (28-11-2014, No. 17/2014); and a ruling of the Supreme Court of Cassation (11-04-2014, No. 24057).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See for example the 'Global Action Programme on Migrant Domestic Workers and their Families' launched in 2013 by the ILO and funded by the European Commission.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Convention came into force in September 2013.

Interviews were conducted with 23 stakeholders, including judicial and law enforcement authorities, lawyers, policy makers, social workers, staff of trade unions and experts. The stakeholders were selected through the help of institutions and organisations and using the snowball method. Interviews were based on a semi-structured interview guide aimed at addressing the three research questions. The principles of confidentiality and anonymity were rigorously applied, and participants gave consent for the disclosure of the name of their organisations or institutions. The purpose, methods and possible uses of the research were made clear to all those involved in the research.

#### Outline of the paper

Section 1 offers an overview of the Italian context related to DW and THB, addressing in the first part the key legislation and policies while in the second part key features and trends of exploitation and THB in DW.

Section 2 examines, in the first part, relevant national case law related to THB in DW. The second part addresses the challenges that law enforcement authorities encounter in implementing Italian legal provisions on THB. Lastly, this section examines the remedies for persons who have been trafficked or exploited in DW.

Section 3 provides an analysis of the results. It outlines the specific features and trends of severe exploitation and THB in DW and the factors motivating the demand for cheap and exploitable workers in this sector. Finally, it examines the key gaps in policies and legislation.

Section 4 provides concluding remarks and policy recommendations concerning legal and political responses, including the demand-side dimension.

# 1 National context: trafficking in human beings (THB) in the domestic work sector

This section provides an overview of the Italian context related to DW and THB. More specifically, the first part highlights relevant legislations and policies concerning DW and THB. The second part offers an empirical overview of the key features and trends of exploitation and THB in DW.

#### 1.1 Government approach and responses to THB in domestic work

#### 1.1.1 Regulations of domestic work

In 1958 Italy adopted a law entirely dedicated to DW: law No. 339/1958 on the protection of domestic work. This law, which is still in force, establishes the rights and duties of workers and employers, and defines labour standards and conditions. It applies to workers who perform DW for at least four hours per day for the same employer.

Law No. 339/1958 made a fundamental contribution to the recognition and protection of the rights of domestic workers. However, it relies on the idea that domestic workers are different from other workers, and therefore it excludes them from enjoying many rights with respect to important issues such as maternity leave, illness and occupational safety and health (Sarti 2010; Basenghi 2010).

In 1974 the first collective agreement for domestic workers was signed. Since then, it has been renewed several times, with the last renewal in 2013. The collective agreement provides that

the maximum working time for live-out domestic workers is 40 hours per week while for live-in domestic workers it is 54 hours per week<sup>3</sup>.

It should be noted that in the live-in situation the boundaries between free time and working hours are often not clearly demarked and thus most workers work more than 54 hours per week (IREF 2014) as they are viewed to be at the constant disposal of the employer. Moreover, in the absence of a sufficient welfare system, very few households can afford the cost of a second domestic worker in order to have constant assistance for the entire week. Consequently, most live-in workers perform work which should be done by at least two people.

In order to try to guarantee adequate assistance (seven days a week) to dependent people. the 2013 collective agreement in force until 2016 has provided employers with the possibility to employ - with restricted costs - a second domestic worker to cover the rest days of the regular (full-time) domestic worker. But, as the respondents of this study have highlighted, this possibility is little used.

When a worker performs DW occasionally, the voucher service system may be implemented. As argued below, in the absence of efficacious controls, this system may risk - especially with its progressive liberalisation – incentivising irregularity in DW.

Over recent years there has been an increase in initiatives on DW developed by various stakeholders in several fields (such research, advocacy, awareness-raising and training) with the purpose of promoting legality in this sector and empowering domestic workers (Pasquinelli & Rusmini 2013; Soleterre & Irs 2015).

Despite an improvement in the legal status of domestic workers, they are still in a disadvantaged condition with respect to other workers (Interview 21, Trade Union-Filcams CGIL, February 2015). The juridical fragility that characterises the conditions of domestic workers has been aggravated by the fact that today the vast majority of domestic workers in Italy are migrants.

#### 1.1.2 Migration policies and domestic work

Italian migration policies have played a crucial role, not without contradictions, in sustaining the increasing presence of migrant workers in DW and, consequently, in making migrant domestic workers (especially migrant women) a fundamental (exploitable) resource for the Italian 'familialist' welfare system (Scrinzi 2008; Sarti 2010; Castagnone et. al. 2013).

In 1998, Italy adopted the first comprehensive legal framework on migration: Legislative Decree No. 286/1998 ('Consolidated Text of provisions governing immigration and rules on the status of foreign nationals'). As for the admission of non-EU migrant workers, Legislative Decree No. 286/1998, with subsequent amendments, provides a system of admission based on a 'nominal hiring from abroad' (Castagnone et. al. 2013). According to this model, non-EU workers are only admitted into Italian territory upon a request from a resident employer (an Italian national or a foreigner regularly resident). The number of migrant workers admitted is defined in an annual governmental decree, Flow Decree (Decreto Flussi), which establishes quotas for diverse types of workers based on labour market needs. Quotas are reserved for seasonal and non-seasonal employment. In addition, special quotas are often granted to specific sectors. In particular, from 2005 until a few years ago a portion of the quotas for nonseasonal employment was reserved for domestic workers. In 2005, 29% of the general quota

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Also, in cases of some specific categories of live-in domestic workers the maximum working time may be 30 hours per week.

for non-seasonal employment was given to domestic workers, 57% in 2006, 41% in 2007, 70% in 2008 and 36% in 2011<sup>4</sup> (Castagnone *et. al.* 2013).

It is worth noting that over the years the Italian admission system based on annual quotas has proven to be inadequate (Santoro 2010; Salis 2012; Amnesty International 2012). This is mainly because the administrative procedure for the implementation of the quota system is excessively complicated and long. Moreover, employers often do not want to hire a person they have not met before (Ambrosini 2013). All this has led many employers, especially families who urgently need a domestic worker, to employ 'irregular' migrants already in Italy and to try to regularise their status later through government regularisation or 'misuse' of the annual quota system as an ex post regularisation tool (Salis 2012: 1). However, over recent years, this latter mechanism has been difficult to apply. Indeed, since 2012, in the framework of the economic crisis, cases of abuse of the quota system, the increase in refugee migration, the large number of family reunifications<sup>5</sup> and the high number of unemployed migrant workers. there have been no real quotas for subordinate non-seasonal workers, including domestic workers<sup>6</sup>. Therefore, there has been no possibility to migrate to Italy as domestic workers, and undocumented domestic workers already working in Italy have no possibilities - outside general regularisation programmes - to regularise their status later. This, together with the rigid linkage between a residence permit and the existence of a contract of employment, risks further pushing migrants towards irregular channels, increasing their vulnerability to exploitation.

Given the extent of irregular migrant labour in the Italian labour market, the Government has frequently implemented regularisation procedures for irregular migrant workers. In particular, since 2002 regularisation programmes have dedicated special attention to DW because of the significant presence of migrant workers, especially migrant women, in this sector. Such preferential treatment for migrant domestic workers – the procedure of which has left abusive employers unpunished – has fostered the development of a transnational familialist welfare system in Italy (Näre 2013).

It is worth highlighting that in recent years, especially since 2007 when Romania joined the EU, there has been a considerable increase in the presence of EU citizen migrants in DW and, as pointed out below, they are also exposed to a high risk of exploitation.

#### 1.1.3 Anti-trafficking policies and initiatives

#### Policies and legal definitions

In 2003, law No. 228/2003 on 'Measures against trafficking in human beings' amended the Criminal Code (CC) in line with the 2000 United Nations *Trafficking Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children*<sup>7</sup>, revising the provisions concerning 'slavery' (Article 600), 'Trafficking in persons' (Article 601) and 'Purchase and sale of slaves' (Article 602). In 2014, Directive 2011/36/EU on THB was implemented into national law through Legislative Decree No. 24/2014 on 'Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Human Beings and Protection of Victims'. The Decree amended

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The decrease in 2011 was probably due to the regularisation of irregular migrants of 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This consists of around 70% of women, many of whom find a job in DW (Interview 13, Italia Lavoro, May 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For instance, in the 2016 Flow Decree, with regard to subordinate non-seasonal work, there are quotas for workers of Italian origin residing in Argentina, Uruguay, Venezuela and Brazil, for workers from non-EU countries who participated in the Universal Exposition of Milan in 2015 (EXPO) and for workers who have participated in special education and training programmes implemented by Italian institutions and associations in their countries of origin. In addition, there are quotas for those who want to convert a resident permit for seasonal work, for study, for training or for other reasons into a resident permit for subordinate work. As for subordinate seasonal workers, there are quotas only in agriculture and the tourist industry.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Italy signed the UN Protocol in 2000 and ratified it in 2006.

the provision of the CC on 'Placing or Holding a Person in Conditions of Slavery or Servitude' (Article 600) and especially that on 'Trafficking in persons' (Article 601), in order to adopt the definition of THB provided by the Directive.

In particular, Article 601 of the CC provides the following definition of THB:

A term of imprisonment of from eight to twenty years shall be applied to whoever recruits, introduces into the territory of the State, transfers even outside said territory, transports, yields authority over a person to another person, offers lodging to one or more persons who are in the conditions specified in Article 600, or performs the said conducts against one or more persons by deceit, violence, threats, abuse of authority or taking advantage of a situation of vulnerability, or of a weaker physical or psychic condition or a condition of need, or by promising or giving money or of any other advantage to the person having control over that person, for the purpose of inducing or forcing him/her to perform work, sex or to beg or, in any case, to perform unlawful activities entailing his/her exploitation or removal of organs<sup>8</sup>

### Assistance and protection for victims of THB and serious exploitation

Law No. 228/2003 also provided for implementing a special programme of temporary assistance, the so-called 'Article 13 Programme'. This is a short-term programme<sup>9</sup> providing immediate assistance and support to Italian, European Community, and foreign victims of slavery, servitude and THB. Once the Article 13 programme is terminated, people can be assisted under Article 18 of Legislative Decree No. 286/98<sup>10</sup>.

Article 18 of Legislative Decree No. 286/98 provides victims of serious exploitation and THB with a long-term programme of assistance and social integration (it lasts 6 months and can be renewable for an additional year), and with a residence permit for humanitarian reasons. It applies to EU and non-EU citizens victims of situations of violence or severe exploitation, and when their safety is considered endangered because of attempts to escape from a situation of exploitation or as a consequence 'of statements made during preliminary investigations or in the course of court proceedings'.

Article 18 provides two paths through which the residence permit for humanitarian reasons can be granted <sup>11</sup>: the so-called 'judicial path', which requires victims to cooperate with law enforcement agencies and judicial authorities and the so-called 'social path', which is not contingent on victims' reports and participation in criminal proceedings. It should be highlighted that the issuing of the residence permit is conditional on the person's participation in the programme of assistance and social integration. However, it does not depend, even in the case of the judicial path, on the existence and outcome of criminal proceedings.

The residence permit for humanitarian reasons under Article 18 lasts six months and can be renewed for one year. Furthermore, it can be converted into a residence permit for work or study purposes.

Despite the progressive approach of Article 18, its application, as highlighted below, has often been inadequate throughout the country (GRETA 2014; OSCE 2013; Special Rapporteur on trafficking in persons 2014; Palumbo 2015; Braglia 2015).

#### Provisions addressing labour exploitation

<sup>9</sup> It lasts three months and can be renewable for another three months.

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Translation provided by GRETA (2014: 18).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Legislative Decree No. 24/2014 has formally unified, as has already happened in practice, in one single programme the Article 13 and Article 18 projects. However, the non-regulatory decree, which should define this programme, has not been issued yet.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See Art. 27 of Presidential Decree No. 349/99.

In cases of labour exploitation, in addition to the above-mentioned provisions, there are other specific legal instruments.

In 2011 Legislative Decree No. 148/2011 introduced the crime of 'unlawful gang mastering and labour exploitation' through Article 603-bis of the CC. This provision imposes sanctions on those who 'conduct organised brokering activities by recruiting workers or organising their working activity with a view to exploiting them, through the use of violence, threat or intimidation, or taking advantage of their vulnerable condition or state of need'.

In 2012 Legislative Decree No. 109/2012, which transposed into national law Directive 2009/52/EC concerning penalties for employers exploiting irregular third-country nationals, introduced – by amending Art. 22 of Legislative Decree 286/98 – some aggravating circumstances to the crime of employing irregular migrant workers<sup>12</sup>. Moreover, it provided for the possibility of granting a residence permit for humanitarian reasons to migrant workers who are victims of specific labour exploitation<sup>13</sup> and who denounce their employers and cooperate in the criminal proceedings against the employer (Art. 22 (12-quater)).

As pointed out in section 3, these provisions have proven inadequate in addressing labour exploitation (Amnesty International 2014; Medu 2015).

## Institutional framework: key stakeholders

The Department for Equal Opportunities (DEO) of the Italian Presidency of the Council of Ministers is the governmental body in charge of co-ordinating, developing and implementing anti-trafficking policies (excluding law enforcement and prosecution activities).

According to Article 51 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, the competence to prosecute trafficking-related cases is attributed to Anti-mafia prosecutorial authorities. Public prosecutors have the significant role of making the request for the issuing of a residence permit to victims of severe exploitation and THB to a Chief of Police (*Questore*).

Among law enforcement agencies, the State Police and Carabinieri are the two police forces responsible for public security and criminal investigation. Police headquarters (*Questura*) are located in every province and headed by a *Questore*, who, acting on the proposal of public prosecutors or NGOs, decides whether a victim of serious exploitation and THB is granted a residence permit.

Labour Inspection depends on the Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs, which defines national priorities and coordinates activities for inspections and prevention. In order to access private households labour inspectors need the consent of the homeowner. The Carabinieri Command for the Protection of Labour, which operates under the Ministry of Labour, is tasked with the fight against illegal employment, severe labour exploitation and THB, in all sectors including DW.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Article 22 (12-bis) of the Decree provides that the penalties should be higher when one of the following circumstances occurs: a) the number of recruited irregular workers is more than three; b) one or more recruited persons are minors who are not yet of working age; c) workers are subjects to particularly exploitative working conditions as described in Article 603bis(3) of the CC. These conditions include, in addition to circumstances a and b, the circumstance in which the worker is exposed to serious danger, given the characteristics of the tasks performed and the working conditions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Specific forms of labour exploitation are defined in Art. 22 (12-bis) see footnote 11.

Regional and local authorities play a significant role in supporting anti-trafficking interventions. by co-financing Article 13 and Article 18 programmes, and sometimes coordinating local activities.

The Italian system of assistance and protection of victims of serious exploitation and THB relies on the important work of NGOs which implement Article 13 and Article 18 programmes. These NGOs are part of the national Anti-trafficking network, which guarantees efficacious protection to victims, making it possible to provide victims of THB identified in one region with assistance in another region.

Trade Unions play an important role in the fight against labour exploitation, by monitoring activities, developing raising awareness campaigns and providing workers with legal support.

# 1.1.4 Policies and measures addressing demand-side of THB in DW

In Italy, the demand-side is firstly addressed in the context of THB in the sex industry. There is little attention on the issue of demand in other sectors and there are no specific measures or policies aimed at directly tackling the demand-side of THB in DW.

It is worth mentioning that in July 2014 the anti-mafia caravan organised by the Italian NGOs Arci, the Libera Association and Trade Unions CGIL, CISL and UIL was dedicated to the topic of THB. In particular, by also supporting the project 'Campaign for Awareness Raising and Training to fight Trafficking' (CARTT), the Caravan travelled in Italy, France, Malta, Romania, Serbia and Spain, organising public events and conferences on THB in diverse sectors. In Italy, the issue addressed was the exploitation of domestic workers<sup>14</sup>.

Some significant initiatives, also relevant to DW, have been carried out at regional and local levels. For example, in 2011 and in 2012 the Emilia Romagna Region directed a campaign addressing potential victims of severe labour exploitation and promoting the national Toll-Free Helpline for victims of THB and serious exploitation. The slogan of the campaign was: 'Are you exploited in the workplace? Are you victim of violence, threats, blackmail? Call us!'. Similar initiatives have been realised in other regions (GRETA 2014).

Trade Unions have developed diverse information and awareness campaigns about domestic workers' rights involving civil society actors<sup>15</sup>. Last year, the Filcams CGIL launched a video campaign for the respect of the rights of domestic workers<sup>16</sup>.

Moreover, over recent years regions and municipalities have implemented diverse measures aimed at supporting employers and improving working conditions of domestic workers, especially domestic workers caring for elderly and dependent people (Pasquinelli & Rusmini 2013). These measures include: cash for care schemes, training activities, and service desks aimed at coordinating supply and demand providing information, help and support to both employers and domestic workers. Some municipalities and regions have also introduced, often in connection with the service desks, registers of domestic workers in order to provide information to households and to limit informality in the job recruitment process (Rusmini 2012). In some systems domestic workers need to have some qualifications to enrol on the registers 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See: http://www.redattoresociale.it/Notiziario/Articolo/458058/In-cammino-contro-la-tratta-dei-nuovi-schiavi-Riparte-la-Carovana-antimafie

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Interview 20, Trade Union-Acli Colf, February 2015; Interview 21, Trade Union-Filcams CGIL, February 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DS4XIoNEGqw">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DS4XIoNEGqw</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> For the limitations of the registers providing strict requirements of qualification see Rusmini 2012.

#### 1.1.5 Key debates

Hitherto, there have been no specific national measures or policies aimed at addressing THB in DW. This deficiency reveals the lack of attention from the Government towards forms of abuse occurring in sectors such as DW, which are delicate and difficult to tackle. On the other hand, this should also be read within a general tendency of the Government to overlook the issue of THB. Indeed, as stakeholders interviewed have highlighted, in recent years antitrafficking interventions have not been adequately supported <sup>18</sup>. In October 2014, the Association for Legal Studies on Immigration (ASGI) presented a statement to the Government requesting they respect the commitments undertaken with Legislative Decree 24/2014 transposing Directive 2011/36/EU.

Both Directive 2011/36/EU and Directive 2009/52/EC have been inadequately transposed into national law (Castelli 2014; ASGI 2015) <sup>19</sup>. Last June, ASGI filed two complaints to the European Commission denouncing the Italian Government's violation of the provisions of the EU Directives.

These lacunae have strongly undermined the Italian legal framework on THB, which is considered, especially with reference to Article 18 of the Legislative Decree No. 286/1998, particularly innovative regarding the protection of the rights of victims.

# 1.2 THB in domestic work: general trends

#### 1.2.1 Empirical data

#### **Domestic work**

According to official estimates, which refer to officially registered workers, in 2014 77.1% of the total workforce in DW was migrant labour (INPS 2014; IDOS 2015). The same data reveal that women constitute the majority of migrant domestic workers, especially in elderly care, and most of them come from eastern European countries (Romania, Ukraine, Moldova and Albania), Asia (Philippines, Sri Lanka and India) and South America (Peru and Ecuador) (IDOS 2015).

Studies demonstrate that DW is one of the sectors with the highest rate of irregularity (CENSIS 2012; IREF 2014; Soleterre Irs 2015). Most cases of irregularity concern the partial or non-payment of contributions from the employers. According to a study on elderly care carried out by IREF in cooperation with Acli Colf, 51.1% of domestic workers interviewed declare forms of irregularity in the payment of contributions (IREF 2014). In addition, as the stakeholders interviewed for this research highlighted, domestic workers frequently experience situations of fundamental rights violation.

#### Trafficking in human beings and severe forms of exploitation

Due to the lack of a uniform identification system, there is no data on the total number of victims of THB identified per year in Italy, and thus of victims of trafficking in DW. However, the DEO, through the national database on victims of trafficking and severe exploitation (SIRIT), gathers data on the number of victims who benefit annually from Article 13 and Article 18

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Interview 5, ASGI, March 2015; Interview 17, Emilia Romagna Region, February 2015; Interview 18, Tuscany Region, May 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See Section 3.

programmes.<sup>20</sup> According to the data referring to victims assisted under Article 18<sup>21</sup>, in 2013 there were seven victims of domestic servitude and seventy-one victims of labour exploitation. of which seven were cases of labour exploitation in the services to the person sector, and in 2014 there were two victims of domestic servitude and thirty-five victims of labour exploitation, of which one was a case of labour exploitation in the services to the person sector<sup>22</sup>.

Yet, as the interviewees for this research outlined, these data do not provide clear figures. Indeed, the absence of national guidelines in collecting data on the national database makes it difficult for NGOs and institutions, which supply data, to distinguish cases of labour exploitation in the services to the person sector from cases of domestic servitude<sup>23</sup>.

At the same time, these figures, which are not huge, seem not to correspond to what our respondents reported to us: far from being occasional cases, domestic workers, especially livein workers, often face exploitative working conditions up to cases of severe abuse and trafficking.

#### 1.2.2 ain characteristics and features of THB in domestic work

There is a lack of information and research on THB in DW in Italy. However, relevant information can be found in a recent study carried out by Caritas Italiana and Coordinamento Nazionale Comunità di Accoglienza (CNCA) (Castelli 2014). According to this research, the geographic area from which come most of the victims of THB for labour exploitation (including labour exploitation in DW) is Eastern Europe (especially Romania), followed by Africa, Asia and Latin America. In most cases, the migratory path starts with a voluntary choice of a person to migrate, and is not the outcome of a coercive act. The debt that many people incur for their migratory project fosters their vulnerability to exploitation. The main channels through which people find a job are: word of mouth among family and friends, illegal intermediaries ('caporali') and recruitment agencies. The study points out that victims of THB for labour exploitation experience several forms of exploitation and maltreatment such as excessive working hours, no salary paid or salary below legal minimum wage, working conditions significantly different from what was agreed, passport retained, discrimination and physical and sexual abuse (Castelli 2014).

The trends highlighted by this study have been broadly confirmed by the stakeholders interviewed for this research. Indeed, based on the cases documented by our respondents, it has emerged that some people migrate autonomously and find a job through family or friends, while others do so with the 'help' of agencies or intermediaries. Migrant domestic workers experience the above-mentioned forms of exploitation, including sexual abuse.

#### 2 Case law review

This section provides an overview of key national case law related to THB in DW and discusses some of the challenges in implementing legal provisions related to severe exploitation and THB. The section also presents remedies for persons who have been trafficked or exploited in DW.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> These data do not refer to the number of convictions but to the victims of labour exploitation and trafficking who have been assisted under Article 13 of Law No. 228/2003 and Article 18 of Legislative Decree No. 286/98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Since there is a significant degree of double counting as many victims are first assisted under Article 13 and then pass to Article 18 projects (see also Eurostat 2015), the data used in this section refer to victims assisted under Article 18 projects.

22 Data provided by the DEO in January 2016.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Interview 7, NGO-Proxima, February 2015; Interview 17, Emilia Romagna Region, February 2015.

# 2.1 Key national case law

In Italy, there have been no convictions for trafficking or slavery in the DW sector and there have been very few cases brought before the court which involved THB and serious exploitation in DW.

This section focuses on three relevant cases: the first is the *M. and Others v. Italy and Bulgaria* ruling of the European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) involving trafficking in DW; the second is a sentence of the Court of Appeal of Assizes regarding a case of arranged marriage also involving domestic servitude; the third is a recent sentence of the Supreme Court of Cassation concerning labour exploitation of some Romanian workers in a firm. Although this last case does not concern exploitation in DW, it highlights the difficulty in proving the condition of continuing subjection as envisaged in Article 600 of the CC ('Placing or Holding a Person in Conditions of Slavery or Servitude')<sup>24</sup>.

#### M. and Others v. Italy and Bulgaria (No. 40020/03. ECtHR 2012)

#### **Principal facts**

The applicants are a Roma family (parents and daughter) from Bulgaria who went to Milan following a promise of work in the house of a Roma man of Serbian origin. The family alleged that few days later, beaten and threatened with death, they were forced to go back to Bulgaria, leaving their daughter – who was a minor at the time – behind. They claimed that the daughter was kept under constant surveillance, raped, forced to steal, threatened with death and physically abused. They reported to the Italian police the facts and the police raided the villa of the Roma man and rescued the daughter. The events were investigated by the Italian authorities but no criminal proceedings were instituted against their daughter's kidnappers.

#### Legal analysis

The applicants alleged that Italy had breached Article 3 (Prohibition of torture and inhuman or degrading treatment) of the European Convention of Human Rights (ECHR) because the authorities did not prevent further ill-treatment by ensuring their daughter's swift release and because the investigations in both Italy and Bulgaria into their allegations were not effective. Based on Article 4 (Prohibition of slavery, servitude or forced labour), the applicants also claimed that their daughter had been a victim of THB and both Bulgaria and Italy were responsible for this violation. They also claimed a violation of Article 14 (Prohibition of discrimination).

The Court found a violation of Article 3 as the Italian authorities had not effectively investigated the applicant's alleged ill-treatment by the Serbian family. However, the Court rejected all complaints based on Article 4 and Article 14. With regard to Article 4, the Court ruled that the circumstances may have amounted to THB, but that the evidence submitted had not enabled it to determine whether the applicants' allegations were truthful. Therefore, the Court held that given that it had not been established that the girl was victim of THB, the obligations under Article 4 to penalise and prosecute THB did not come into play in this case.

#### Comment

By putting the burden of proof on the applicants, the Court departed from the lower threshold of 'credible suspicion' supported in *Rantsev v Cyprus and Russia* (No. 25965/04, 2010). In *Rantsev v Cyprus and Russia*, the Court held that THB falls within the scope of Article 4 of the ECHR and that States have positive obligations to investigate allegations of THB where circumstances give rise to a credible suspicion. The choice of the Court in *M and Others v. Italy and Bulgaria* to shift the burden to 'prove' the factual circumstances on the applicants appears to be problematic as it seems to overlook the complex nature of the offence of THB,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> It should be noted that the rulings illustrated in this section refer to the formulation of the provisions on slavery and THB (Articles 600 and 601) before the implementation of Directive 2011/36/EU into national law in 2014.

where frequently there is a lack of evidence, especially because victims are often traumatised by the experience suffered. Moreover, given that complaints against States are usually filed when authorities have not effectively investigated the facts and therefore when there is little evidence available, this Court's ruling makes it considerably difficult for victims of THB to invoke Article 4 in claiming a State's responsibility for failing to investigate and prosecute THB (Jovanovic 2013).

# The Court of Appeal of Assizes (No. 17/2014. 28-11-2014) Principal facts

This case involved an arranged marriage between a 15 year old girl from Kosovo and a Roma minor boy living in a Roma camp in Pisa, Italy. The girl's parents, who were an extremely poor family, received a sum of money as dowry from the young man's parents. The girl was illegally brought to Italy by the uncles of the young Roma boy. She was forced to have sexual intercourse with her spouse. According to the Roma tradition, the bride must be a virgin and have her first sexual intercourse with her spouse. The girl also claimed that she was forced to perform exhausting domestic chores and tasks for the family. Moreover, she was repeatedly forced to engage in sexual acts by her spouse and also subjected to sexual abuse by her father-in-law. She also claimed that she was segregated in the Roma camp and deprived of her passport. The few times she spoke with her parents, she admitted to them that she had been subjected to abuse and violence. Worried, her parents contacted the police headquarters in Pisa. A few days after their first visit to the camp, the police took the girl away.

#### Legal analysis

The prosecution charged the young man with the offence of sexual violence<sup>25</sup> (Article 609bis of the CC) and the members of the young man's family with the offence of group sexual violence (Article 609-*octies* of the CC) as they, according to the tradition, 'forced' the girl to submit to a sexual act with her spouse. Moreover, the prosecution charged members of the young man's family with the offence of THB (Article 601 of the CC) as they illegally brought the young girl to Italy for the purpose of reducing her to a condition of slavery. Lastly, the prosecution charged the young man's parents with the offence of 'Placing or Holding a Person in Conditions of Slavery or Servitude' (Article 600 of the CC) as they, by taking advantage of her situation of need and through physical and psychological violence, placed and held the young woman in a condition of continuous subjection in order to force her to perform labour services in the Roma camp as well as sexual acts with her alleged husband.

The Court of Assizes<sup>26</sup> (First level instance) rejected the allegations of sexual violence and slavery and reduced the offence of THB to that of facilitation of irregular migration (Article 12(3) Legislative Decree No. 286/98). With regard to THB and slavery, the Court argued that the young girl knew she had to marry the young Roma boy and voluntarily chose to move to Italy to join her spouse. In addition, the Court held that the young woman was not placed in a condition of slavery. Although there was a situation of interpersonal tensions and conjugal violence, it did not amount to a condition of subjugation. Moreover, by putting into question the credibility of the statements of the young girl, the Court held that the girl had not performed non-respectable domestic work.

The Court of Appeal of Assizes (Second level instance) held as valid the allegation of group sexual violence but rejected, on the basis of the same reasoning provided by the Court of first instance, the allegations of THB and slavery.

The Public Prosecutor has recently appealed to the Court of Cassation.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> As he is a minor, there are separate proceedings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Court of Assizes, 15-03-2013, No. 18046/10.

#### Comment

The rulings of the Courts appear problematic on several grounds. First, the Courts held that the case did not amount to trafficking because the young woman voluntary chose to move to Italy to join her spouse. In so arguing, the Courts seem to neglect the principle of the irrelevance of the consent of a victim of THB as affirmed by the UN Protocol on trafficking and by Directive 2011/36/EU. The latter also states that 'when a child is concerned, no possible consent should ever be considered valid'. Although it is worth noting that the Courts referred to the formulation of the provisions on slavery and THB (Articles 600 and 601) before the implementation into national law of Directive 2011/36/EU in 2014, it should also be noted that even Council Framework Decision 2002/629/JHA, replaced by Directive 2011/36/EU, affirmed the irrelevance of the consent of the victims. As for labour exploitation, both the Courts held that the young woman exaggerated regarding the severity of her DW activities, as she felt uncomfortable in an environment to which she did not belong. However, they did not provide clear and robust explanations of the reasons why the statements of the young girl regarding her DW were not credible. Furthermore, the Courts highlighted that one of the witnesses argued that the young woman had not carried out heavy work but was limited to performing the same DW that women of her age usually do for their families in the camp. In this way, the Courts seemed to implicitly support the idea that doing the same work performed by the other women in the camp means performing normal and not heavy activities. However, it cannot be ruled out that other women in the camp have experienced forms of exploitation.

# Supreme Court of Cassation (Cass.pen.sez VI, 11-04-2014, No. 24057)

#### **Principal facts**

This case involved some Romanian people working in a farm of an Italian man under exploitative and degrading conditions including extremely bad accommodation, inadequate supply of food, excessive working hours (around 12 hours per day) and lack of payment.

## Legal analysis

The Tribunal of Viterbo (First level instance) convicted the employer of the offence of 'Placing or Holding a Person in Conditions of Slavery or Servitude' (Article 600 of the CC).

The Court of Appeals of Rome<sup>27</sup> (Second level instance) found that the circumstances did not amount to the offence of slavery (Article 600 of the CC) as the working conditions suffered by the Romanian people did not prevent them from self-determination and therefore from escaping such an abusive working environment. Thus, they were not placed in a condition of continuing subjection as envisaged in Article 600. The Court reclassified the offence as 'Abuse in family' (Art. 572 of the CC). It argued that this offence also addresses the context of working relationships defined as para-familial relationships ('relazioni parafamiliari'), which are characterised by the existence of a regular and intense relationship between employer and employee, habits of life among persons and the subjection of one person to the other.

The case was brought to the Supreme Court of Cassation, which confirmed the ruling made by the Court of Appeals.

#### Comment

As this ruling highlights, according to existing case law (which mainly refers to the text of the provision on slavery before the implementation of Directive 2011/36/EU), taking advantage of other people's work, performed in conditions of exploitation, does not amount to the offence of

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Court of Appeals of Rome, 21-06-2013, No. 5552.

slavery when the victim is not placed in a situation of continuing subjection such as that in which there is a substantial reduction of a person's ability of self-determination<sup>28</sup>.

Given the difficulty in proving a condition of continuous subjection, cases of serious exploitation have often been punished under other offences such 'Abuse in Family' (Article 572 of the CC) and 'Extortion'<sup>29</sup> (Article 629 of the CC). The use of offences that are not strictly linked to labour exploitation, such as 'Abuse in Family', runs the risk of neglecting the seriousness of the crime committed and highlights the inadequacies of the Italian legal framework on severe labour abuse; inadequacies which today might be addressed thanks to the recent implementation into national law of Directive 2011/36/EU.

In this regard, it is worth highlighting that in Italy, so far, severe labour exploitation has mainly been prosecuted under the provision concerning the crime of facilitation of irregular migration (Article 12 of Legislative Decree 286/98) and under the provision concerning penalties for employers employing irregular migrant workers (Article 22 of Legislative Decree 286/98). However, these instruments aim at combating irregular migration rather than protecting victims of labour abuse. Moreover, they appear ineffective nowadays as most cases of labour exploitation involve migrants who are not irregular but are asylum seekers, refugees and poor EU citizens (in particular Romanians) and migrants with a residence permit. In these cases. the provisions of the Criminal Code available today to address severe labour exploitation are Article 603bis ('unlawful gangmastering and labour exploitation') and Articles 600 (slavery) and 601 (trafficking), which, as argued, have been recently amended by the transposition of Directive 2011/36/EU into national law. In particular, by adopting the broad definition of THB provided by Directive 2011/36/EU, the new formulation of Article 601 could lead to a more effective application of this provision, addressing the complex forms of contemporary labour exploitation.

#### 2.2 Key challenges in implementing legal dispositions and in legal proceedings

Certainly, one of the reasons there have been few criminal proceedings on THB in DW concerns the hidden nature of this sector, which renders identifying and addressing cases of severe exploitation and THB extremely difficult. However, it should be highlighted that in general, in Italy, the numbers of criminal proceedings and convictions related to the offences of slavery and THB is low (Greta 2014; ASGI 2015) and most of these concern cases of sexual exploitation. This derives from diverse challenges in implementing Italian legal provisions on these offences.

First of all, as indicated in interviews with a judge and some prosecutors and lawyers, the way the offence of THB (Art. 601) was formulated in the criminal code before the implementation in 2014 of Directive 2011/36/EU was so inadequate as to make the provision difficult to be applied30. Indeed, there was not a clear distinction of the acts, means and scopes of THB and it was almost impossible to prove all the elements of the crime (see also ASGI 2015) 31. Consequently, the offence of slavery (Art. 600 of the CC) has been used in preference to that of THB. As the judge and UN Special Rapporteur, Maria Grazia Giammarinaro, when interviewed for this study, argued: 'now we have to wait to see the effects of the implementation of EU Directive 2011/36 and thus of the adoption of the international definition of trafficking into national legislation. But, it is worth saying that the new provision on trafficking inserts into a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Cass. pen., sez. V, 24-09-2013, No. 44385.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Cass. pen., sez V, 26-10.2011, No. 251.

<sup>30</sup> Interview 1, DDA of L'Aquila, March 2015; Interview 2, Tribunal of Rome and UN Special Rapporteur, March

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Interview 4, ASGI, February 2015; Interview 5, ASGI-Arcobaleno, March 2015.

consolidated juridical situation in which there is the habit of applying Article 600' (Interview 2, Tribunal of Rome and UN Special Rapporteur, March 2015).

However, as illustrated above, even the provision on slavery has not frequently been applied so far, especially in cases of labour exploitation. This is mainly due to the severity of the associated penalties and to the vague formulation of 'the situation of continuous subjection' as envisaged by Article 600 of the CC. Accordingly, most prosecutors have preferred to charge the accused person with other offences such as 'private violence', 'kidnapping', 'extortion' and 'abuse in family' which ensure that they win the criminal trial and thus get a successful conviction (Interview 4, ASGI, February 2015). In general, it may be argued that the offences of THB or slavery have usually been charged in the presence of damning elements.

Another issue concerns the difficulty by competent authorities in understanding and perceiving the severity of the crime committed in cases of labour exploitation. According to Giammarinaro, this difficulty derives from the fact that

[t]hese cases regard in particular migrants and there is a dominant ideology which normalises the exploitation of migrants. As a consequence, some forms of exploitation are not viewed as a violation of fundamental human rights such as, for example, the right to health and the right to physical integrity (as to work in inhumane conditions is a terrible and traumatic experience which leaves indelible marks on a person's health and psyche) (Interview 2, Tribunal of Rome and UN Special Rapporteur on THB, March 2015) 32

Moreover, as the case law outlined above indicates, when cases involve minorities, such as Roma people, prejudices often may inform competent authorities' decisions so that exploitation is not only normalised but is also viewed as 'natural' for these groups (see also Boicu 2013).

A further problem is related to the fact that THB is a relatively new offence, involving complex situations, and among competent authorities there is often a fear of or difficulty in acting in absence of a robust case law to build upon and of systematic activity of training and dissemination (GRETA 2014)<sup>33</sup>. Emblematic of the lack of robust training activities is the fact that landmark cases of ECtHR, such as *Siliadin vs. France* and *Rantsev vs. Cyprus and Russia*, are usually neglected by judicial authorities.

Difficulties in the application of the legal provisions also concern the different conceptions of trafficking among competent authorities, including judges, prosecutors and lawyers. According to most competent authorities, THB involves a transnational movement and consists of a single chain in which the recruitment of a person from his/her country of origin and his/her exploitation in the country of destination are under the control of the same criminal group or people. However, as studies and experts have pointed out, today - especially in cases of labour exploitation - the trafficking process is mainly composed of diverse segments (Castelli 2014; Interview 2, Tribunal of Rome and UN Special Rapporteur, March 2015). Indeed, often in the first phase of this process people migrate with the 'help' of a *passeur* (facilitator), who asks them for some money for his or her 'service', and subsequently they end up involved in abusive working contexts.

In the light of this, Giammarinaro points out that 'when we speak about trafficking the focus should not be on transfer but on exploitation. The essence of trafficking is the purpose of exploiting people, which means taking advantage of unpaid or underpaid labour or services of another person, performed in inhuman, degrading and unsafe conditions' (Interview 2, Tribunal of Rome and UN Special Rapporteur, March 2015).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See also FRA 2015 on this point.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Interview 1, DDA of L'Aquila, March 2015; Interview 2, Tribunal of Rome and UN Special Rapporteur, March 2015.

However, not all forms of exploitation amount to THB. Exploitation is a continuum which goes from relatively less serious forms of exploitation to slavery or THB (Anderson & O'Connell-Davidson 2006; Skrivankova 2010) and depends on the penalty range. Therefore, in order to qualify a case as THB, judicial authorities have to evaluate each case on its own merits and look at all the factors and parameters at stake, especially the situation of vulnerability of the person. Such a task is extremely challenging in today's context marked by a strong increase in poverty and precariousness and thus where most of the workers experience exploitative conditions, which rely on the abuse of a condition of vulnerability.

Given the complex features of trafficking, it is not surprising that scholars and practitioners have different views on how to interpret the THB definition contained in the new provision of the CC (Article 601), which has adopted the broad definition provided by EU Directive 2011/36. For example, some argue that Article 601 should be linked to the provision on slavery (Article 600) and thus should be applied only when the victim's self-determination is so limited that he/she finds him/herself in a state of subjection as in the case of Article 600 of the CC (Interview 4, Lawyer, ASGI, February 2015). Indeed, according to this view, only referring to the condition of subjection envisaged in Article 600 it is possible to justify the severe penalties imposed in cases of THB.

Although valuable, this interpretation of the provision may risk further reinforcing the strong relationship between the offence of trafficking and that of slavery, which - given the difficulty to prove the existence of the condition of continuous subjection - has limited the range of application of provision on THB (Interview 23, Expert on trafficking, June 2015; Vallini 2014).

In order to avoid this risk and to make the provision on THB capable of addressing most of the contemporary cases of labour exploitation relying on the abuse of a position of vulnerability, professor Emilio Santoro – an expert on the matter of labour exploitation who was interviewed for this research – suggests interpreting Article 601 as envisaging two criminal conducts: while the first conduct is linked to the existence of a condition of slavery as envisaged in Article 600, the latter focuses on exploitation. However, one of the main obstacles for this interpretation may be the severity of the penalties imposed in THB cases. In this sense, by highlighting that Directive 2011/36/EU establishes a minimum penalty of five years of imprisonment, Santoro argues that Article 601 should be amended to provide for a penalty of five to twenty years of imprisonment instead of eight to twenty years (Interview 23, Expert on trafficking, June 2015).

#### 2.3 Other remedies for persons who have been trafficked or exploited in domestic work

Trafficked and exploited workers have the right to diverse remedies by the competent national courts for acts violating their rights and freedoms guaranteed by law.

Often victims of trafficking have difficulties obtaining free legal aid. This is mainly because the victims have a right to free legal aid if they have an income equal or inferior to €11,369.24 per year. However, it is often difficult for the victims to prove their income in Italy and their income in their countries of origin (GRETA 2014).

In addition, the Italian government has not integrated into national law Article 11 of EU Directive 2011/36 which requires Member States to take the necessary measures to ensure that a person is provided with assistance and support as soon as the authorities have a reasonable-grounds indication for believing that the person is a victim of THB. Moreover, Italian legislation does not provide for assistance for extrajudicial dispute resolution.

It is also important to point out that the existence of effective remedies also depends on the support that civil society actors – such as associations, NGOs and trade unions – provide to victims (FRA 2011).

#### Residence permit for victims of THB and severe exploitation

Article 18 of Legislative Decree 286/1998 provides foreign people who have been victims of THB and severe exploitation with a residence permit for humanitarian reasons (see Section 1.1.3).

Article 22 of the Legislative Decree 286/98 provides a residence permit for humanitarian reasons to migrant workers who are victims of 'particularly exploitative working conditions', and cooperate with competent authorities (see Section 1.1.3).

#### Compensation for victims of THB

Victims of crime, if they act as a civil party in the criminal proceedings, can ask for compensation for damage suffered from the perpetrators. In the case of victims of THB, a problem which often occurs is that perpetrators have no assets and thus no compensation can be obtained from them (GRETA 2014).

Legislative Decree No. 24/2014, by amending Article 12 of law No. 228/2003, has established that the 'fund for anti-trafficking measures' is also aimed at financing the compensation of victims. The compensation is €1,500.00 per victim. This fund is extremely exiguous. Legislative Decree No. 24/2014 has thus inadequately transposed Article 17 of Directive 2011/36/EU ('Compensation to victims') into national law. Moreover, Italy has also inadequately implemented Directive 2004/80/EU on compensating victims of crime (Cardi 2014).

#### Remedies for labour law violations

Under Italian civil law, workers who experience violation of the contract provisions and/or of mandatory rules on working conditions (e.g. working hours, the minimum wage, social security, maternity leave and health and safety) have the right to summon the employer before the Courts of Labour in order to request compliance with contract conditions and employer obligations. Furthermore, workers who experience forms of abuse including maltreatment and violation of fundamental rights (such as discrimination, verbal and psychological abuse and mobbing) have the right to sue the employer for compensation for patrimonial and non-patrimonial damages (Articles 2043 and 2055 of the Civil Code).

Domestic workers who experience the above-mentioned violations may also decide to opt for extra-judicial dispute resolution mechanisms, such as conciliation: administrative conciliation and trade union conciliation. Although it depends on the cases, it is however possible to argue that conciliation strategies prove to be more efficient for migrant workers to recover salary and/or contribution owed to them by employers than long court procedures.

Migrants in an irregular status who experience labour rights violations have the right to raise claims with courts and/or access conciliation procedure. However, the fear of being reported to authorities and deported to the country of origin prevents workers from exercising this right (FRA 2011). This situation, of course, differs for victims of THB or serious exploitation who can be granted humanitarian or specific residence permits.

It has to be outlined that Italy did not implement Article 13(1) of Directive 2009/52/EU, which requires that Member States ensure that there are effective mechanisms to allow third-country nationals in illegal employment to lodge complaints against their employers, directly or through unions or associations, and also to recover their wages or any differential wages.

#### 3 Discussion of results

The first part of the following section offers a description of the specific features and trends of THB in DW. Subsequently, it focuses on the factors motivating the demand for cheap and exploitable workers in DW. Finally, it examines the key gaps in policies and legislation.

# 3.1 THB in domestic work: Observations on types of situations and conditions

#### DW and Migrant Workers' Vulnerability to exploitation

In Italy, as in other countries, care has not only been persistently undervalued as a political and public issue but also as 'work' (Balbo 2001; Lutz 2008; Sarti 2010; Sciurba 2015), and this is certainly reflected in the fact that, as argued above, DW is not adequately regulated. Highlighting the gendered character and low social status of DW, the national secretary of the Filcams CGIL, Giuliana Mesina, argues:

In Italy the burden of the care in a family is still mainly on women's shoulders [...] Also, the productive assets of DW are considered poor when in reality they consist of relational goods which are not reproducible by a machine and which have involved a solid heritage whose value is immeasurable. In Italy, the value of a job is viewed on the basis of the remuneration (Interview 21, Trade Union-Filcams CGIL, February 2015).

The complexity of the relationship between employer and employee, which is marked by high levels of intimacy and proximity (Lutz 2008; Ricard-Guay 2015), has also contributed to DW not being well regulated (OSCE 2010). This relationship is characterised by a specific power imbalance, which is frequently 'clothed in the language of obligation, support and responsibility' (Anderson 2007: 255). Moreover, paternalist practices that assimilate labour relations with family relations may also contribute to undermining workers' rights: 'under the category "you're like one of the family" there is often the risk of also justifying the non-respect of rules' (Interview 22, Expert on DW, March 2015). However, in considering the complexity of the employer/employee relationship in DW, it is worth noting, as many interviewees outlined, that in some instances households are in a situation of need as one of their members is a fragile, elderly person who is not self-sufficient and they find themselves alone because they have no institutional help. The welfare system's inadequacies may exacerbate the difficult position of employers as market and family actors (Triandafyllidou & Marchetti 2015).

The fact that DW is performed in the employer's household, and thus in the private sphere, is another factor that makes this sector unlike any other and that increases workers' vulnerability (OSCE 2010; Mantouvalou 2012) as they are isolated (Parreñas 2008) and have limited or no access to information and assistance measures (Interview 21, Trade Union-Filcams CGIL, February 2015; OSCE 2010). Furthermore, in the live-in situation, the boundaries in terms of tasks and between free time and working time often blur and worker's privacy may be highly limited (Vianello 2012). Cohabitation may 'foster exasperation and also forms of mutual violence among employers and domestic workers' (Interview 22, Expert on DW, March 2015).

In Italy, private households escape labour inspections. Therefore, most cases of abuse and exploitation in DW remain hidden from the public and authorities. In absence of control, the specific situation of imbalance of power which characterises this sector 'can produce an escalation of violence and coercion, up to situations of slavery-like conditions' (Interview 2, Tribunal of Rome and UN Special Rapporteur, March 2015.).

The lack of concrete occupational alternatives leads many migrant domestic workers, whose priority is often to send money to their families in the countries of origin, to remain in exploitative working conditions.

Migrant domestic workers with an irregular status face a high risk of exploitation (FRA 2011, 2015; Triandafyllidou 2013), especially when they work as live-in. Indeed, in addition to the fear of losing a job and a place to sleep, the fear of being reported to competent authorities, then to be deported constitutes a further factor which prevents them from escaping situations of exploitation (Interview 21, Trade Union-Filcams CGIL, February 2015).

However, even EU citizen migrant workers, who today constitute an essential component of the labour force in diverse sectors, such as DW, face a heightened risk of being severely exploited (Medu 2015). Their possibility to move freely across EU boundaries does not entail an effective 'access to rights and social justice' (Palumbo & Sciurba 2015b). Furthermore, the illegal employment of EU citizen migrants is less risky for the employers as they are not at risk of being accused of the offences of facilitation and exploitation of irregular migration.

Gendered dynamics and power relations increase the risk of strengthening the segregation of migrant women in market niches (Piper 2007; Scrinzi 2008), such as DW, often marked by dynamics of labour and sexual abuse (Interview 15, Municipality of Cesena, March 2015; Interview 21, Trade Union-Filcams CGIL, February 2015).

#### Recruitment process

From the interviews conducted for this study, it has emerged that in some instances migrant domestic workers move to Italy through the help of recruitment agencies (in source or destination countries), in other cases they move to Italy autonomously and then find a job through diverse channels. These channels include word of mouth, parishes, recruitment agencies, social cooperatives, and associations of the community of origin based in Italy. There are also cases in which domestic workers, who are employed in other countries, come to Italy with their employer. However, there is no clear data on this and from the interviews there has emerged only few cases of this type.

As documented in existing reports, as well as by some of our respondents, social cooperatives and recruitment agencies - which range from legal to informal and illegal organisations - can play a fraudulent and/or abusive role by leading migrants into exploitative working situations (Andrees 2008; OSCE 2010; FRA 2015)<sup>34</sup>. Moreover, some migrants often find themselves in debt to such agencies due to the high fee they have to pay to them for facilitating migration and helping with job placement. This increases migrant workers' vulnerability and limits possibility of escaping exploitation<sup>35</sup>.

One interviewee reported a case involving an illegal agency managed by an Italian man with the help of some migrant men and women<sup>36</sup>. They recruit both migrant women who are already in Italy and women in their country of origin (especially from Romania), offering them jobs in DW (mainly in elderly care) under exploitative conditions. The agency often makes women understand that if they are available for sexual services, they can obtain a better job. This agency also has some apartments where women can stay, under payment (€10 per day), when they are waiting to start work. Usually they stay in this apartment for 15-20 days and thus in order to afford this cost most of them incur a debt with this agency. In addition, women have to pay around €100 to the agency for finding them a job. This amount may be greater if it is a job with a contract.

Another important case regards a legal agency in Modena that 'employed' domestic workers already present in Italy and then sent them to local households. Many workers did not have

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Interview 15, Municipality of Cesena, March 2015; Interview 21, Trade Union-Filcams CGIL, February 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Interview 2, Tribunal of Rome and UN Special Rapporteur, March 2015; Interview 20, Trade Union-Acli Colf, February 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> As the case is currently under investigation it is better not to mention the name of the city (and the Region) where the case is taking place.

residence permits and in the case of regular migrants, often there was no contract. The salary and working conditions were unfair. Workers who contacted trade unions were threatened with being dismissed by the agency. Once a woman was deprived of her passport and physically attacked by the boss. The situation deteriorated when the agency refused to pass on payment to workers even if the households continued to pay it. The lack of payment led workers to contact trade unions and the 'Oltre la Strada e Oltre lo Sfruttamento' project of Modena (Interview 14, Municipality of Modena, March 2015).

#### Exploitative working conditions

As the interviewees outlined, migrant domestic workers frequently experience several forms of exploitation and maltreatment, which range from violation of the fundamental protection provided by the contract to trampling the dignities of the person. In particular, migrant workers often have no contract, or have a contract in which the number of working hours is less than that effectively performed, and they work excessive hours, without a weekly day off and with low salaries. A recent study has revealed that salaries of domestic workers in elderly care have not increased in recent years and in the South of Italy salaries are very low: around €400-600 per month (IREF 2014). As emerged from the interviews, there are also cases in which domestic workers are deprived of a salary as it is substituted by payment in kind, i.e. room and board (Interview 7, NGO-Proxima, February 2015).

In addition, domestic workers often have inadequate accommodation, are prevented from eating the same food families eat and are subject to humiliations<sup>37</sup>. Moreover, employers frequently limited or strongly controlled domestic workers' private lives (Interview 8, NGO-Papa Giovanni, March 2015; Vianello 2012). In some instances, they used forms of coercion, such as verbal, psychological or even physical abuse. Important to mention is a case concerning a young Indonesian woman brought to Italy by a couple, a Libyan man and an Italian woman, in order to work as a domestic worker, in particular to clean and take care of their house. The young woman was deprived of her passport and forced to work in highly exploitative conditions for around sixteen months. In particular, she worked every day from 5.30 am to 1.00 am, without holidays, with a monthly salary of \$200, which was not consistently paid. The accommodation provided to her was of a very low standard. She was also victim of verbal abuse and physically abused by her employer<sup>38</sup>.

Although actual confinement is not frequent, live-in domestic workers, who often have only a half a day of free time per week, suffer high levels of restriction on freedom of movement as they are at the constant disposal of the employer (Interview 21, Trade Union-Filcams CGIL, February 2015).

As the case law illustrated in section 2 reveals, there are also cases of arranged marriage which involve labour and sexual exploitation: the victim is 'forced' to marry and then forced to perform household work, according to gendered roles and traditionalist practices, and simultaneously to submit to her husband's sexual requests. The 1956 Supplementary Convention on Slavery explicitly identifies the link between servitude and forced marriage (Article 1).

Despite frequent experience of several forms of exploitation, maltreatment and abuse, nonetheless not all situations amount to trafficking. It is necessary to view each case on its own merits, looking at the circumstances of the facts and factors at stake and paying particular attention to the position of vulnerability of the victim<sup>39</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Interview 15, Municipality of Cesena, March 2015; Interview 21, Trade Union-Filcams CGIL, February 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> As the criminal proceeding has not yet started, the name of the city (and the region) where the case took place cannot be mentioned. I obtained information about this case from the association which assisted the victim.

<sup>39</sup> Interview 1, DDA of L'Aquila, March 2015; Interview 2, Tribunal of Rome and UN Special Rapporteur, March 2015.

# 3.2 Key motivation factors and demand-side dimension

As emerged from the interviews, diverse factors – such as economic, political, legal, social and cultural factors – affect demand for cheap and exploitable workers in DW in Italy.

The economic motivation, meaning lacking or saving money, is undoubtedly one of the main factors. In Italy, the average value of pensions as well as of household incomes is quite low<sup>40</sup> and in the absence of sufficient welfare state services, people cannot afford more than a certain amount.<sup>41</sup> This situation has been exacerbated by the current economic crisis. As Senator Guerra points out:

The number of families in which members are able to provide care is in decline while the need for assistance and care increases. As Istat stated, the family networks are increasingly narrow and long. At the same time, the cost of legally employing a (live-in) domestic worker [around €1100] is impossible for many families today. Therefore, a cheap labour force has become more desirable (Interview 12, Senate, March 2015).

However, the issue of demand cannot be restricted to economic aspects, as other factors play a role and concern both wealthy and less wealthy households. As highlighted by one interviewee of this study, Raffaela Sarti, an expert on domestic work, in Italy there is a 'widespread tendency not to respect the rules on working conditions. This is part of an extensive malpractice in which being a migrant becomes an element added to a situation which is already critical', especially in the context of domestic work where the boundaries between employment and family relations constantly blur. On the other hand, Italian policies and laws on DW have played an important role in fostering the idea of migrant domestic workers as workers 'who in some ways can be exploited to a greater extent, in comparison to Italian workers' (Interview 22, Expert on DW, March 2015). For example, Law No. 339/1958 does not address those workers who worked less than four hours per day and for a long time there was a discussion about paying contributions to these workers. Finally, at the beginning of the 70s, it was established that contributions should also be paid (Sarti 2010). However, at the same time, 'the idea that contributions should not be paid to migrant workers spread. It was a wrong idea but it took some time to clarify this' (Interview 22, Expert on DW, March 2015).

The fact – as argued above – that domestic work is not recognised as 'work' is certainly another issue affecting the demand-side. Indeed, for example in some cases of elderly care, in addition to not paying the workers enough and not employing them legally, households require them to work excessive hours and overload them with tasks, such as to take care of two elderly people, often with serious health problems, overlooking the amount of work assigned (Interview 15, Municipality of Cesena, March 2015). This is influenced by the gendered and racialised character of DW (Anderson 2007; Lutz 2008) and by the idea of DW being an activity outside of marketisation (Ungerson 2003).

Prevailing social norms also constitute a key factor as they play a significant role in shaping people's behaviour as employers of DW (Anderson and O'Connell Davidson 2003; ICAT 2014).

21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> In 2014, 42.5% of Italians received a pension income lower than €1,000 and among these 12.1% lower than €500 (INPS 2014). As for family incomes, official data reveal that in 2012, half of Italian families had an income around €2,000 per month (Banca D'Italia 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Interview 12, Senate, March 2015; Interview 21, Trade Union-Filcams CGIL, February 2015.

As Anderson and O'Connell Davidson point out, 'their understanding of these norms is largely determined through peer behaviour and what they can get away with' (2003: 42). Indeed, as one of the respondents highlighted, people often justify their actions by saying 'our friends or neighbours did the same'. This is a 'sort of "self-justification" and the reason for this is that the families do not view themselves as strong employers as they do not make an income from DW' (Interview 16, Municipality of Cesena, March 2015). Moreover, people know there are few cases in which employers of domestic workers have been effectively punished (Interview 21, Trade Union-Filcams CGIL, February 2015).

This sense of impunity has been strengthened by policies and laws that have tried to protect employers of domestic workers. For instance, when Directive 2009/52/EC was implemented through Legislative Decree No. 109/2012, <sup>42</sup> the Government decided to stipulate the requirement that the number of recruited workers has to be more than three, because otherwise many Italian families, which exploit migrant domestic workers, would have been punished. As Senator Maria Cecilia Guerra, who was interviewed for this research, points out: 'if we had embraced Directive 2009/52 in an extreme way, there would have been the risk of sending to prison many Italian families which, however, the State had not helped to face the issue of caring for non-self-sufficient people. I am not happy about this choice but it was obligatory. Yet, I know that this choice makes it very difficult to address cases of exploitation and trafficking' (Interview 12, Senate, March 2015).

Many interviewees highlighted that a further core factor influencing the demand-side regards the dominant conception that migrant domestic workers come from situations of poverty, and consequently it should not be a problem for them to work under difficult conditions. According to this reasoning, 'people think that they give migrants an opportunity and so migrants have to be thankful and make do with what they have' (Interview 21, Trade Union-Filcams CGIL, February 2015). It is as if the migrant's condition of need and willingness to work is turned into the employer's right to exploit (Interview 22, Expert on DW, March 2015). As Sarti stressed in the interview conducted for this study, this is 'a kind of distorted cultural relativism which offers some justification: 'in their countries they suffer so much, thus here they are far better off' (Interview 22, Expert on DW, March 2015). Such an approach is developed even in forms of paternalism, which, as illustrated above, may function as forms of exploitation.

Focusing on the logic of paternalism versus the logic of rights, Santoro, in the interview carried out for this study, argues that paternalism has been embedded in Italian migration policies from the 1990s. Migration policies and laws rely on the idea that 'migrant workers are subordinate and can come to Italy only if an employer provides a guarantee for them. Even the regularisation programmes for irregular migrants have been based on the employer's guarantee' (Interview 23, Expert on THB, June 2015). Thus, laws and policies have fostered the conception that it is the employer who allows a migrant worker to come and stay in Italy and accordingly migrants have to be thankful (and do what the employer asks them to do).

As for the irregular employment of many migrant workers in DW, our respondents outlined that workers often opt not to sign a contract for economic reasons. Sarti calls these situations 'consensual forms of disrespect for the rules' (Interview 22, Expert on DW, March 2015) based on 'double reciprocal convenience' for both employers and workers (Castagnone *et al* 2013:

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> See Section 1.

20; Pasquinelli & Rusmini 2013). For example, many migrant workers opt for irregular work because they cannot redeem contributions in case of return to their countries of origin as Italy has not made bilateral agreements with many non-EU countries (Interview 13, Italia Lavoro, May 2015).

With respect to the role of fraudulent and abusive recruitment agencies and intermediaries, as Sarti highlights, these can create 'mechanisms of alteration of the intersection between demand and supply': they meet a demand for cheap and exploitable migrant labour, while recreating a supply in some cases as they often provide migrant workers with jobs which are exhausting, to the point of being impossible, thus leading people to contact them again for another job. This particularly occurs when the migrant worker is in a position of indebtedness towards the agencies (Interview 22, Expert on DW, March 2015).

# 3.3 Key gaps in legislations and policies (include demand-side dimension)

#### Key gaps in laws and policies on DW

Over recent years, in the wake of ILO Convention 189, there has been more attention paid to the issue of DW, but mostly at the regional level. Some regions, for example, have developed specific laws on DW (e.g. the Emilia Romagna Region). On the national level, however, nothing has really been done. As Mesina stresses: 'although most parts of the Convention have already been addressed by Italy, there are still two main issues which cry out for justice: maternity and health and safety in the workplace' (Interview 21, Trade Union-Filcams CGIL, February 2015). For example, regarding maternity, domestic workers can be dismissed after the mandatory maternity leave.

As argued above, in recent years there has been an increase in municipal or regional service desks aimed at addressing and coordinating demand and supply in DW by providing information, help and support to both households and domestic workers. With the exception of some that operate in connection with employment centres ('centri per l'impiego') or accredited private employment agencies, most service desks do not address the selection of domestic workers and contract issues. This strongly affects the efficacy of such interventions. Some services, such as project 'Pronto Badante' of the Tuscany Region, provide households with vouchers on the condition that they and the domestic worker would have to register with the National Institute of Social Security (INPS) and be monitored throughout the period of the voucher. However, the director in charge of managing the operation centre of the project reported that many families contacted them because they wanted the €300 voucher and when they understood that they would have to regularise domestic workers, they preferred not to utilise this service (Interview 19, Tuscany Region, May 2015).

While services addressing demand and supply in DW have increased, economic resources are still highly insufficient. In fact, for instance, the funding for non-self-sufficient persons has been subjected to deep cuts in the last few years. Lately, the current Government has established an increase, since 2016, in the funding from €250 million to €400 million (Interview 12, Senate, March 2015). But, Italy still lacks a structured plan for non-self-sufficient people.

As Senator Guerra points out in the interview conducted for this study, DW is not an issue of political priority because Italy is currently affected by the economic crisis and the crucial issue right now is the lack of job opportunities. DW, as she argued, 'is viewed as a private issue, even by the Left. There is the idea that once you put families in conditions of economic independency, ensuring them a job, the rest goes without saying. But this is not true, because to have a job is not enough. Families need the support of the State in dealing with DW issues'.

According to Guerra, there is a 'collective hypocrisy': there is no structured plan for non-self-sufficient people, but at the same time, there is a sort of tolerance for the 'people's do-it-yourself answer', which frequently involves forms of illegality and exploitation of migrant workers (Interview 12, Senate, March 2015). This has thus resulted in a model in which migrant domestic workers cover the deficiencies of the welfare system (Ambrosini 2013).

Recently the ceiling of the income from vouchers has been raised from €5000 to €7000 a year for each worker. As trade unions stress, this progressive liberalisation of the voucher system risks keeping workers in a condition of instability and precariousness. At the same time, in the absence of efficacious control, the vouchers are often used to 'cloak' subordinate and continuous work relationships rather than regularise occasional work relationships. Thus, far from addressing the black market, the voucher system risks instead fostering irregularity, and hence workers' vulnerability, in labour sectors, including domestic work (Interview 21, Trade Union-Filcams CGIL, February 2015).

#### Key gaps in laws and policies on THB

While the transposition of Directive 2011/36/EU into national law could be an important opportunity to improve the Italian anti-trafficking framework, Decree 2014/24 implementing the Directive presents several limitations. The Decree has not developed an integrated, comprehensive approach to THB as provided for in the Directive (ASGI 2015). Indeed, for instance, it downplays the need for a gender approach in addressing THB (Palumbo 2015). Its sole reference to a gender perspective consists of a brief reference to gender violence in its Article 1. Moreover, the Decree has not adopted the definition of position of vulnerability provided by the Directive and has not implemented some important provisions, including those regarding the irrelevance of the consent of the victims (Art. 2(4)); non-prosecution of, or non-application of penalties to the victim (Art. 8); and adequate and unconditional assistance (Art. 11). As mentioned above, the Decree has also inadequately transposed the provision of the Directive concerning the compensation to victims (Art. 17).

In addition, Italy still lacks a national plan against trafficking, as well as a national system of identification of victims. Furthermore, as respondents stressed, State funds for the system of assistance for victims have been provided in a discontinuous way, jeopardising NGOs activities.

The national plan should be adopted, after severe delays, in the next few months and will provide for actions of prevention, protection, repression and cooperation, following the 2012-2016 European strategy on THB. With respect to the issue of the demand-side, as the coordinator of the secretariat on THB of the DEO says, the Plan will dedicate specific attention to preventive activities, which include training in the countries of destination and origin (Interview 11, DEO, March 2015).

In a context of general political and institutional inattention towards the topic of THB, it is not surprising that the issue of demand is rarely discussed and faced, especially in the field of labour exploitation (Interview 17, Emilia Romagna Region, February 2015). Probably there is not the will to tackle such a complex issue, as this would lead to encountering the tangles of the Italian labour market and economy, undermining entire sectors, which rely on the exploitation of migrant workers.

Little attention is also paid to the issue of labour exploitation and/or THB in DW. As an interviewee points out, probably this is also because 'exploitation in DW is a complex and delicate social phenomenon, which also entails the economic difficulties of many Italian families, and so probably there is not the will to address it' (Interview 5, ASGI, March 2015).

With regard to the assistance and protection of victims of THB and severe exploitation, as many interviewees highlighted, the implementation of Article 18 of Legislative Decree No. 286/1998 is often inadequate, especially in cases of THB for labour exploitation (see also

GRETA 2014; OSCE 2014; ASGI 2015). For example, the so-called social path is rarely applied. Moreover, 'there is a regression in the way police interpret Article 18 and its requirements', especially the requirement of danger (Interview 5, ASGI, March 2015). Further, the issuing of the residence permit often takes a long time and there are problems with its renewal.

Lastly, the lack of concrete and fast working alternatives to offer to victims affects antitrafficking interventions as it often pushes people to go back to work in exploitative conditions (Interview 7, Proxima, February 2015).

# Key gaps in legal instruments on labour exploitation

Italian legal instruments specifically addressing labour exploitation have also proven inadequate. As for Article 603bis of the Criminal Code introducing the offence of 'unlawful gangmastering and labour exploitation', this provision addresses primarily abusive intermediaries and not abusive employers (OSCE 2013; GRETA 2014; Medu 2015). At the same time, it identifies the role of abusive intermediaries in a way that is often difficult to apply in practice, especially in DW (Interview 1, DDA of L'Aguila, March 2015).

Doubts also exist over the efficacy of Legislative Decree No.109/2012 transposing Directive 2009/52/EC into national law. First of all, the main aim of this Decree, as well as of the Directive, is to combat irregular immigration, and not to protect the rights of victims. Moreover, by modifying Article 22 of Legislative Decree No. 286/1998, the Decree has provided a very restrictive definition of 'particular working exploitation'<sup>43</sup>, which does not conform to that offered by Directive 2009/52/EC. As one of the interviewees argues, 'the way Italy has implemented Directive 2009/52/EC has clearly demonstrated that it does not want to address the issue of demand-side in the field of labour exploitation'. This is because 'labour exploitation of migrant workers is congenial to the Italian economic system. At the same time, the existence of a class in a condition of juridical and social subalternity offers the possibility to raise the living standards of other people' (Interview 4, ASGI, February 2015).

In summary, these provisions are principally aimed at addressing irregular migration and illegal gang-masters. The focus on irregular migration has resulted in the relative impunity of abusive employers and in a lack of effective protection for victims. Furthermore, this approach results in being particularly inadequate if one considers that today, as argued above, most of the exploited migrant workers are not irregular (Palumbo & Sciurba 2015b; Medu 2015).

At the same time, as an interviewee highlighted, 'the rhetoric of gang-masters, like the rhetoric of smugglers (*scafisti*), drives attention away from the root causes of THB and serious exploitation. The phenomenon of gang-masters needs to be redimensioned' (Interview 5, ASGI, March 2015).

# 4 Concluding Remarks and key messages for national policy makers

In order to efficaciously address cases of severe exploitation and THB in the DW sector, it is necessary to develop measures based on a comprehensive approach, as promoted by Directive 2011/36/EU (Giammarinaro 2012). This approach relies on the idea that trafficking is a complex and evolving phenomenon in which diverse issues are at stake – such as migration policies, labour measures, gender discrimination, poverty and violence – and, accordingly, anti-

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> See section 1.

trafficking interventions cannot be developed solely through the instruments of criminal law or be limited to assisting victims, but require the implementation of concerted measures of different natures aimed at tackling the root causes of THB. At the same time, Directive 2011/36/EU has driven attention to the issue of the position of vulnerability of victims and the irrelevance of consent, highlighting how situations of vulnerability – in which the person has no real or acceptable alternative other than submitting to the abuse involved – *de facto* deny freedom of choice (Palumbo & Sciurba 2015a).

A comprehensive approach, therefore, implies addressing the structural factors that produce migrant workers' vulnerability. This, on the one hand, entails long-term aims as it means first of all tackling the deep economic disparities among people and among countries. On the other, it also requires the development of interventions aimed at addressing how national policies, laws and cultural and social norms foster migrants' vulnerability to exploitation and lead people to take advantage of this situation of vulnerability. Unsurprisingly, it is on these latter initiatives that most anti-trafficking policies and actions – not only in Italy but also in many other countries – mainly focus (or aim to focus).

In Italy, domestic workers frequently experience several forms of exploitation and maltreatment, which range from violation of the fundamental protection provided by the contract to severe abuse and trafficking. This paper argues that while economic motivations are the main factor influencing the demand for cheap and exploitable workers in DW, other aspects, such as political, legal, social and cultural factors, also play a crucial role in affecting the demand-side.

The hidden nature of DW renders the identification of cases of severe exploitation and THB extremely difficult. This study highlights that Italian legal and political responses to THB and severe exploitation have proven inadequate in preventing and addressing these phenomena and in protecting the rights of the victims.

Based on these considerations, the paper suggests the following recommendations concerning legal and political responses, which also address the demand-side dimension.

#### Recommendations

## 1.To enhance regulation on DW and to strengthen the rights of domestic workers:

- Disentangling the DW sector from the quota system and developing a special programme which allows migrant domestic workers to enter Italy as jobseekers.
- Achieving a full recognition of the rights of domestic workers (such as with regard to the issues of maternity and of health and safety in the workplace).
- Supporting and promoting the role of trade unions in monitoring the implementation of labour standards and supporting domestic workers in claiming their rights and seeking redress.
- Promoting bilateral agreements with non-EU countries of origin, in order to allow workers to redeem contributions in case of return to their countries.

#### 2.To improve services for dependent persons and their relatives:

- Providing effective and coordinated services to households, for instance, by developing a structured plan for non-self-sufficient persons, addressing effectively the issue of health and social integration and guaranteeing that each person is supported by various services, which cooperate to meet their needs.
- Enhancing progressive economic subsidies to bear the cost of DW as well as fiscal incentives.

## 3.To enhance legal and political interventions on THB and labour exploitation:

- Ensuring the full transposition of Directive 2009/52/UE by modifying, for instance, Art. 22(12bis) of Legislative Decree No. 286/1998 matching the provisions of the Directive.

- Providing, in accordance with Article 13(1) of Directive 2009/52/UE, provisions to effectively allow third-country nationals in illegal employment to lodge complaints against their employers, and also to recover their wages.
- Introducing into national law important provisions provided by Directive 2011/36/EU, including the definition of position of vulnerability; the irrelevance of the consent of the victims; non-prosecution of, or non-application of penalties to, the victim; and adequate and unconditional assistance. Moreover, it is necessary to provide efficacious forms of compensation for damages to victims in accordance with Article 17 of the Directive.
- Adopting a structured National plan against trafficking, which also addresses the issue of THB in DW.
- Developing a national system of identification of the victims of THB and severe exploitation.
- Improving the national database SIRIT by developing a more comprehensive and coherent statistical system and developing guidelines for the collection of data.
- Securing and increasing funding for victim assistance and protection programmes.
- Establishing an independent National Rapporteur to ensure data analysis, monitoring and assessment of anti-trafficking measures.

# 4.To improve protection of victims of severe exploitation and THB in DW and their access to justice:

- Ensuring a correct and full application of Article 18 of Legislative Decree No. 286/1998, especially with reference to the so-called social path, which provides protection to victims irrespective of their cooperation with law-enforcement and judicial authorities.
- Providing systematic training to trade unions, parishes, NGOs, labour inspectors, lawyers, law enforcement agencies and judicial authorities on new features of labour exploitation and trafficking, especially in domestic work, and on applicable provisions.
- Improving and strengthening co-operation and knowledge sharing between law enforcement authorities and NGOs involved in identifying, assisting and protecting victims of THB and severe exploitation in DW.
- Enhancing rights information and access to justice and remedies through qualified legal counselling to victims and fostering the access of victims to free legal assistance.

# <u>5.To enhance measures to prevent labour exploitation and THB in DW, and address more directly the demand-side:</u>

- Providing systematic training to both employers and domestic workers about their rights and duties
- Developing national campaigns and awareness-raising activities at all levels aimed at addressing the social acceptability of abusive practices in DW, by challenging the gendered character and low social status of this work.
- Implementing an efficacious monitoring of the data of the National Institute of Social Security (INPS) as well as an efficacious mechanism of traceability of the vouchers in DW. Also, developing mechanisms to control, through the banks, the payments by employers.
- Enhancing measures aimed at monitoring working activities in households, for example ensuring that the municipality service desks coordinating supply and demand in DW can implement activities of monitoring.
- Controlling and monitoring the activities of recruitment agencies, for example developing as some municipalities have done a register of recruitment agencies in DW which meet certain requirements.
- <u>6.To further conduct research on THB and severe exploitation in DW,</u> in particular on the ways fraudulent and abusive recruitment agencies, in source and countries of origin, operate; on THB for DW in diplomatic households in Italy as well as on cases of arranged marriage and DW exploitation.

## References

- Ambrosini, M. (2013) Irregular migration and invisible welfare, Palgrave Macmillan.
- Amnesty International (2012), *Exploited Labour. Migrant Workers in Italy's Agricultural Sector*, Amnesty International Ltd, London.
- Amnesty International (2014), *Exploited Labour two years on*, Amnesty International Ltd, London.
- Anderson, B. (2000), *Doing the dirty work?: the global politics of domestic labour*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Anderson, B. (2007), 'A Very Private Business Exploring the Demand for Migrant Domestic Workers', *European Journal of Women's Studies*, *14*(3), 247–264.
- Anderson, B., & O'Connell Davidson, J. (2003), *Is trafficking in human beings demand driven?:* a multi-country pilot study. IOM, Internat. Organization for Migration.
- Andrees, B. (2008), Forced labour and human trafficking: A handbook for labour inspectors. Geneva: International Labour Office, ILO.
- ASGI Associazione per gli studi giuridici sull'immigrazione (2015), *La tutela delle vittime di tratta e del grave sfruttamento: il punto della situazione oggi in Italia*, Available at <a href="http://www.asgi.it/notizia/look-out-report-sfruttamento-lavorativo-tratta-italia">http://www.asgi.it/notizia/look-out-report-sfruttamento-lavorativo-tratta-italia</a>. Accessed 10<sup>th</sup> of August 2015.
- Baldo L. (2001), 'L'Europa: (forse) una società-con-Cura una società del lifelong learning', in Cleis F. Varini Ferrari O (Eds.), *Pensare un mondo con le donne. Saperi femminili nella scienza, nella società e nella letteratura. Atti del corso di formazione sulla presenza femminile nella storia e nella cultura del XX secolo (anni 1996-1999)*, Associazione Dialogare- Incontri, Centro Didattico Cantonale.
- Banca D'Italia (2014), *I bilanci delle famiglie Italiane nell'anno 2012.* Available at: <a href="https://www.bancaditalia.it/pubblicazioni/indagine-famiglie/bil-fam2012/suppl\_05\_14n.pdf">https://www.bancaditalia.it/pubblicazioni/indagine-famiglie/bil-fam2012/suppl\_05\_14n.pdf</a>. Accessed 28th of October 2015.
- Basenghi, F (2010), 'La legge339/1958: continuità e innovazioni', in R. Sarti (ed.): *Lavoro domestico e di cura: Quali diritti?*, Rome: Ediesse: 207-222.
- Boicu, M. E. (2013), Advancing equality also for the Roma? The M and the Others v. Italy and Bulgaria ruling of the European Court of Human Rights, 'Diritti umani e diritto internazionale', 1: 177-182.
- Braglia, M. (2015), 'La tutela delle vittime di grave sfruttamento lavorativo negli interventi della Regione Emilia-Romagna', in M. Frasca & A. Angelini (eds.), *Illeciti nell'Impiego di Manodopera Straniera: strategie di contrasto e tutela delle vittime*, Rome: Italialavoro.
- Cardi, G. (2014), 'Le norme e le loro applicazioni', in V. Castelli (Ed.), *Punto e a capo sulla tratta. Uno studio sulle forme di sfruttamento di esseri umani in Italia e sul sistema di interventi a tutela delle vittime*, Milano: FrancoAngeli.

- Castagnone, E., Salis, E. & Premazzi, V. (2013), *Promoting integration for migrant domestic workers in Italy*, Turin, FIERI.
  - Castelli, V. (Ed.) (2014), Punto e a capo sulla tratta. Uno studio sulle forme di sfruttamento di esseri umani in Italia e sul sistema di interventi a tutela delle vittime, Milano: FrancoAngeli.
- CENSIS (2010), Dare casa alla sicurezza. Rischi e prevenzione per i lavoratori domestici, Rome
- CENSIS (2012), Elaborazione di un modello previsionale del fabbisogno nel mercato del lavoro italiano con particolare riferimento al contributo della popolazione straniera, Rome.
- CENSIS (2015), Bilancio di sostenibilità del Welfare italiano, Rome.
- Cox, R. (2006), *The Servant Problem: Paid Domestic Work in a Global Economy*, London: I.B. Tauris.
- Direzione Generale dell'Immigrazione e delle Politiche di Integrazione (Ed.) (2014), Quarto rapport annuale. Gli immigrati nel mercato del lavoro in Italia. Available at: <a href="http://www.lavoro.gov.it/Notizie/Documents/IV%20Rapporto%20annuale%20MdL%20immigrati%202014.pdf">http://www.lavoro.gov.it/Notizie/Documents/IV%20Rapporto%20annuale%20MdL%20immigrati%202014.pdf</a>
- Eurostat (2015), *Trafficking in Human Beings*, Luxembourg: European Commission (EC) Eurostat.FRA European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (2011). *Migrants in an irregular situation employed in domestic work: Fundamental rights challenges for the European Union and its Member States.* Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- FRA (2015) Severe labour exploitation: into the European Union. States' obligations and victims' rights. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Fullin, G. & Vercelloni, V. (2009), 'Dentro la trappola. Percezioni e immagini del lavoro domestico e di cura nei percorsi delle donne immigrate', *Polis*, Vol. XXIII (3): 427-459.
- Giammarinaro, M.G. (2012), 'La direttiva 2011/36/EÜ sulla prevenzione e la repressione della tratta di esseri umani e la protezione delle vittime', *Diritto, immigrazione e cittadinanza*, (1): 15-33.
- GRETA (2014), Report concerning the implementation of the Council of Europe Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings by Italy. Available at <a href="http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/monitoring/trafficking/Docs/Reports/GRETA\_2014\_18\_FGR\_ITA\_wcmnts\_en.pdf">http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/monitoring/trafficking/Docs/Reports/GRETA\_2014\_18\_FGR\_ITA\_wcmnts\_en.pdf</a>, Accessed 10<sup>th</sup> of August
- IDOS (Ed.) (2014), *Immigrazione Dossier Statistico 2014 Rapporto UNAR. Dalle discriminazioni ai diritti*, Roma: Edizioni IDOS.
- IDOS (Ed.) (2015), *Immigrazione Dossier Statistico 2015*, Roma: Edizioni IDOS.
- ILO (2012a), ILO Indicators Of Forced Labour, Geneva: ILO Publications.
- ILO (2012b), *ILO Global Estimate of Forced Labour. Results and Methodology.* International Labour Office (LO) / Special Action Programme to Combat Forced Labour (SAP-FL) Geneva: ILO Publications.

- ILO (2013b), Domestic Workers Across the World: Global and Regional Statistics and the Extent of Legal Protection. Geneva: ILO Publications.
- INPS (2014), Bilancio Sociale 2014. Available at: <a href="http://www.inps.it/docallegati/Mig/Doc/Bilanci/BilancioSociale2014/BS2014\_volume.pdf">http://www.inps.it/docallegati/Mig/Doc/Bilanci/BilancioSociale2014/BS2014\_volume.pdf</a>, Accessed 28th of October 2015.
- INPS (2015), Statistiche in breve. I lavoratori domestici. Available at: <a href="https://www.inps.it/docallegati/News/Documents/StatInBreve\_LAVDOM\_giugno2015.pdf">https://www.inps.it/docallegati/News/Documents/StatInBreve\_LAVDOM\_giugno2015.pdf</a>, Accessed 28<sup>th</sup> of October 2015.
- IREF, with the cooperation of ACLI COLF (2014), Viaggio nel lavoro di Cura. Le trasformazioni del lavoro domestico nella vita quotidiana tra qualità del lavoro e riconoscimento delle competenze.
- Jovanovic, M. (2013), 'Trafficking in Human Beings and the European Court of Human Rights in Dubio pro State?', Available at: <a href="http://ohrh.law.ox.ac.uk/trafficking-in-human-beings-and-the-european-court-of-human-rights-in-dubio-pro-state/">http://ohrh.law.ox.ac.uk/trafficking-in-human-beings-and-the-european-court-of-human-rights-in-dubio-pro-state/</a> Accessed 28th of October 2015.
- Lutz, H. (2008), *Migration and domestic work: A European perspective on a global theme*. Aldershot, UK: Ashgate.
- Mantouvalou, V. (2012), 'Human Rights for Precarious Workers: The Legislative Precariousness of Domestic Labour', *Comparative Labor Law & Policy Journal*, 34: 134-166.
- Medu Medici per i Diritti Umani (2015), Terraingiusta. Rapporto sulle condizioni di vita e di lavoro dei braccianti stranieri in agricoltura.
- Nare, L. (2013), 'Migrancy, gender and social class in domestic labour and social care in Italy an intersectional analysis of demand' *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 39(4): 601-23.
- OECD (2014), Jobs for Immigrants (Vol. 4): Labour market integration in Italy, OECD Publishing.
- OSCE (2010), Unprotected work, invisible exploitation: Trafficking for the purpose of domestic servitude. Report of the Tenth Alliance against Trafficking in Persons Conference « Unprotected Work, Invisible Exploitation: Trafficking for the Purpose of Domestic Servitude », Vienna, 17-18 June 2010. Vienna: OSCE Office of the Special Representative and Co-ordinator for Combating Trafficking in Human Beings.
- OSCE (2014), Report by Maria Grazia Giammarinaro, OSCE Special Representative and Coordinator for Combating Trafficking in Human Beings, following her visit to Italy from 17-18 June and 15-19 July 2013. Available at <a href="http://www.osce.org/secretariat/121240?download=true">http://www.osce.org/secretariat/121240?download=true</a> Accessed 10<sup>th</sup> of August.
- OSCE (2014a), Ending exploitation. Ensuring that businesses do not contribute to trafficking in human beings: Duties of States and the private sector. Vienna: Office of the Special Representative and Co-ordinator for Combating Trafficking in Human Beings (OSCE).
- Palumbo, L. (2015a), 'Protection of Trafficked People in Italy: Policies, Limits and Challenges', Journal of Money Laundering Control, 8 (1): 52-65.

- Palumbo, L. (2015b), 'The need for a gendered approach to exploitation and trafficking', Beyond trafficking and slavery. Open Democracy Online Blog. Available at: <a href="https://www.opendemocracy.net/beyondslavery/letizia-palumbo/need-for-gendered-approach-to-exploitation-and-trafficking">https://www.opendemocracy.net/beyondslavery/letizia-palumbo/need-for-gendered-approach-to-exploitation-and-trafficking</a> Accessed 17th of August
- Palumbo, L & Sciurba, A. (2015a), 'Vulnerability to Forced Labour and Trafficking: The case of Romanian women in the agricultural sector in Sicily', *Anti-trafficking Review*, 5: 89-110.
- Palumbo, L. & Sciurba, A. (2015b), 'New mobility regimes, new forms of exploitation in Sicily' Beyond trafficking and slavery. Open Democracy Online Blog. Available at <a href="https://www.opendemocracy.net/beyondslavery/letizia-palumbo-alessandra-sciurba/new-mobility-regimes-new-forms-of-exploitation-in-s">https://www.opendemocracy.net/beyondslavery/letizia-palumbo-alessandra-sciurba/new-mobility-regimes-new-forms-of-exploitation-in-s</a>, Accessed 10<sup>th</sup> of July.
- Parreñas, R. S. (2008), 'Perpetually Foreign: Filipina Migrant Domestic Workers in Rome', in H. Lutz (2008), *Migration and domestic work: A European perspective on a global theme*, Aldershot, UK: Ashgate, 99-112.
- Pasquinelli, S. & Rusmini, G. (2013), *Badare non basta. Il lavoro di cura: attori, progetti, politiche*, Roma, Ediesse.
- Piper, N. (2007), (ed.) New Perspectives on Gender and Migration: Livelihood, Rights and Entitlements, Oxon: Routledge.
- Ricard-Guay, A. (2016), *Trafficking in domestic work: Looking at demand-side.* Working Paper, DemandAT Project.
- Rusmini, G. (2012), 'I Registri delle assistenti familiari: Qualità o quantità?', *Newsletter Qualificare.info*. Available at www.qualificare.info, Accessed 16<sup>th</sup> of August.
- Salis, E. (2012), Labour migration governance in contemporary Europe. The case of Italy, Turin, FIERI.
- Santoro, E. (2010), 'La regolamentazione dell'immigrazione come questione sociale: dalla cittadinanza inclusiva al neoschiavismo', in Santoro, E. (Ed.), *Diritto come questione sociale*, Torino, Giappichelli: 129-180.
- Saraceno, C. (2007), Mutamenti della Famiglia e Politiche Sociali in Italia, Bologna: Il Mulino.
- Sarti, R. (2010), 'Lavoro domestico e di cura: Quali diritti?', in R. Sarti (ed.): *Lavoro domestico* e di cura: Quali diritti?, Rome: Ediesse.
- Sciurba, A. (2015), La cura servile, la Cura che serve, Pisa: Pacini Editore.
- Scrinzi, F. (2008), 'Migrations and the restructuring of the welfare state in Italy: change and continuity in the domestic work sector', in Lutz, H. (2008), *Migration and domestic work: A European perspective on a global theme*. Aldershot, UK: Ashgate: 29-42.
- Soleterre & Irs (2015), Lavoro domestico e di cura: pratiche e benchmarking per l'integrazione e la conciliazione della vita familiare e lavorativa. Available at <a href="http://www.soleterre.org/sites/soleterre/files/soleterre/dettaglio/pubblicazioni/RAPPORTOLAVORODOMESTICOeDICURA\_2015\_SOLETERRE\_IRS.pdf">http://www.soleterre.org/sites/soleterre/files/soleterre/dettaglio/pubblicazioni/RAPPORTOLAVORODOMESTICOeDICURA\_2015\_SOLETERRE\_IRS.pdf</a>, Accessed 10<sup>th</sup> of August.
- Special Rapporteur on trafficking in persons, especially women and children (2014), Mission to Italy, Geneva: United Nations. Office of the United Nations High Commissionner for Human Rights (OHCHR).

- Skrivankova, K. (2010), Between decent work and forced labour: examining the continuum of exploitation, *JRF programme paper: Forced Labour. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.*
- Triandafyllidou, A. (2013), *Irregular Migrant Domestic Workers in Europe: Who Cares?* Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Triandafyllidou, A., & Marchetti, S. (Eds.) (2015), *Employers, Agencies and Immigration.*Paying for Care. Research in Migration and Ethnic Relation Series. Farnham: Ashgate.
- Ungerson, C (2003), 'Commodified care work in European Labour Markets', *European Societies* 5(4): 377-396.
- Vallini, A (2014), 'Reati di sfruttamento lavorativo', AltroDiritto. Available at http://www.altrodiritto.unifi.it/adirmigranti, Accessed 14<sup>th</sup> of August.
- Vianello, F. A. (2012), 'Continuità e confini tra vita pubblica e vita privata. La doppia presenza delle assistenti familiari', *AG. About Gender*, 1(2): 175-203.

Annexe

# List of interviews conducted in this study

Sector	Position	Organisation	Date of Interview	No
Judicial	Prosecutor	District Anti-Mafia Directorates (DDA) of L'Aquila	20-03-2015	JUS1
Judicial	Judge - UN Special rapporteur on THB	Tribunal of Rome	27-03-2015	JUS2
Judicial	Prosecutor	District Anti-Mafia Directorates (DDA) of Florence	23-04-2015	JUS3
Legal	Lawyer	ASGI	26-02-2015	LAW4
Legal	Lawyer - Coordinator of the area on THB	ASGI- Arcobaleno	16-03-2015	LAW5
Law Enforcement	Head of the Carabinieri Command for the Protection of Labour	Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs	24-08-2015	LAWEn 6
NGO	Coordinator of THB projects	Proxima Association	18-02-2015	NGO7
NGO	Coordinator of THB projects	Papa Giovanni, Bologna	02-03-2015	NGO8
NGO	President of the association	Association on the Road	13-03-2015	NGO9
NGO	Coordinator of THB projects	Gruppo Abele Onlus	06-07-2015	NGO10
Government	Coordinator of the secretariat on THB	Department of Equal Opportunities (DEO)	02-03-2015	GVT11
Government	Senator Democratic Party	Senate	30-03-2015	GVT12
Government	Head of immigration area	Italia Lavoro	13-05-2015	GVT13
Government	Coordinator of Project 'Oltre la strada'	Municipality of Modena	03-03-2015	GVT14
Government	Coordinator of Project 'Oltre la strada'	Municipality of Cesena	04-03-2015	GVT15
Government	Social worker of the Support Service for care work	Municipality of Cesena	04-03-2015	GVT16
Government	Consultant on the Project 'Oltre la Strada'	Emilia Romagna Region	12-02-2015	GVT17
Government	Contact person for Project 'CONTRATTO'	Tuscany Region	14-05-2015	GVT18
Government	Director of the Operation Centre of the project Pronto Badanti	Tuscany Region	18-05-2015	GVT19
Trade Union	National director	Acli Colf	25-02-2015	TU20
Trade Union	National Secretary	FILCAMS-CGIL	26-02-2015	TU21
Expert	Professor	University of Urbino	06-03-2015	EXP22
Expert	Professor	University of Florence	25/06/2015	EXP23

# About the author

Letizia Palumbo is a Research Assistant (national expert on trafficking) in the project "Addressing Demand in Anti-Trafficking Efforts and Policies (DemandAT)" (FP7 European Commission funded project) at the Robert Schuman Centre for Advanced Studies. She is also a Post-Doctoral Researcher in Comparative Law at the Department of European Studies and International Integration at the University of Palermo, Italy. Her research interests include human trafficking, gender and migration, labour exploitation, human rights and women's rights.

# Addressing demand in anti-trafficking efforts and policies (DemandAT)

COORDINATOR: International Centre for Migration Policy Development Vienna, Austria,

#### **CONSORTIUM:**

University of Bremen – Arbeitsbereich Interkulturelle Bildung Bremen, Germany

University of Edinburgh – School of Social and Political Science Edinburgh, United Kingdom

La Strada International Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Lund University – Department of Social Anthropology Lund, Sweden

University of Durham – Department of Geography Durham, United Kingdom

European University Institute – Robert Schuman Centre for Advanced Studies Florence, Italy

Geneva Centre for the Democratic Control of Armed Forces Geneva, Switzerland

La Strada Czech Republic Prague – Czech Republic

FUNDING SCHEME: FP7 Programme for research, technological development and demonstration – Collaborative projects

DURATION: 1 January 2014 – 30 June 2017 (42 months).

BUDGET: EU contribution: 2,498,553 €

WEBSITE: www.demandat.eu

FOR MORE INFORMATION: Albert.Kraler@icmpd.org

#### **FURTHER READING:**

Palumbo, L (forthcoming 2016) *Policy Brief: Trafficking in Human Beings in Domestic Work in Italy: Tackling severe exploitation in hidden spaces*, DemandAT Policy Brief, Vienna: ICMPD

Ricard-Guay, A. (2016) *Trafficking in Domestic Work: Looking at the demand-side*. DemandAT Working Paper 5. Vienna: ICMPD

#### More DemandAT Country Studies on the Domestic Work Sector:

Angeli, D (2016a) Demand in the Context of Trafficking in Human Beings in the Domestic Work Sector in Cyprus, DemandAT Country Study No. 2, Vienna: ICMPD

Angeli, D (2016b) Demand in the Context of Trafficking in Human Beings in the Domestic Work Sector in Greece, DemandAT Country Study No. 4, Vienna: ICMPD

Camargo, B (2016) Demand in the Context of Trafficking in Human Beings in the Domestic Work Sector in Belgium, DemandAT Country Study No. 1, Vienna: ICMPD

De Volder, E (2016) Demand in the Context of Trafficking in Human Beings in the Domestic Work Sector in the Netherlands, DemandAT Country Study No. 6, Vienna: ICMPD

Levy, F (2016) Demand in the Context of Trafficking in Human Beings in the Domestic Work Sector in France, DemandAT Country Study No. 3, Vienna: ICMPD

Maroukis, T (2016) Demand in the Context of Trafficking in Human Beings in the Domestic Work Sector in the United Kingdom, DemandAT Country Study No. 7, Vienna: ICMPD



#### Partners:





















DCAF a centre for security, development and the rule of law

